
 
A REGULAR MEETING

OF THE TOWN OF LADYSMITH COUNCIL
AGENDA
5:00 P.M.

 
Tuesday, August 18, 2020

This meeting will be held electronically as per Ministerial Order No. M192
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1. CALL TO ORDER

Call to Order 5:00 p.m. in Open Session, in order to retire immediately into
Closed Session.

Members of the public are welcome to attend all Open Meetings of Council, but
may not attend Closed Meetings.

2. CLOSED SESSION

Recommendation
That, in accordance with section 90(1) of the Community Charter, Council retire
into closed session in order to consider items related to the following:

personal information about an identifiable individual who holds or is
being considered for a position as an officer, employee or agent of the
municipality - section 90(1)(a)

•

3. OPEN MEETING (7:00 p.m.)

Please follow this link to view the meeting:
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCH3qHAExLiW8YrSuJk5R3uA/featured

4. AGENDA APPROVAL

Recommendation
That Council approve the agenda for this Regular Meeting of Council for August
18, 2020.

5. RISE AND REPORT- Items from Closed Session

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCH3qHAExLiW8YrSuJk5R3uA/featured


6. MINUTES

6.1 Minutes of the Special Meeting of Council held July 27, 2020 6

Recommendation
That Council approve the minutes of the Special Meeting of Council held
July 27, 2020.

6.2 Minutes of the Regular Meeting of Council held August 4, 2020 8

Recommendation
That Council approve the minutes of the Special Meeting of Council held
August 4, 2020.

6.3 Minutes of the Special Meeting of Council held August 7, 2020 11

Recommendation
That Council approve the minutes of the Special Meeting of Council held
August 7, 2020.

7. DEVELOPMENT APPLICATIONS

7.1 Zoning Bylaw and OCP Amendment - Lot A Malone Road 13

Recommendation
That Council:

Direct that application 3360-20-03 (Lot A District Lot 126 Oyster
District Plan VIP73132 Except Part in Plan EPP23747) proceed
for further consideration and;

1.

Having considered section 475 (consultation during
development of an OCP) and section 476 (consultation on
planning for school facilities) of the Local Government Act
direct staff to refer the application to:

a.

Stz’uminus First Nation pursuant to the Memorandum
of Understanding;

i.

School District 68 (Nanaimo Ladysmith);ii.

The Community Planning Advisory Committee;iii.

The BC Ministry of Transportation and Instructure, BC
Transit and BC Hydro;

iv.

The Cowichan Valley Regional District; and v.

Direct that staff:2.
Work with the applicant regarding a community amenity
contribution and/or land use matters and report back to
Council, specifically with regard to the following items:

a.
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The existing covenants on the property title for
stormwater management, road dedication, and
community amenities;

i.

Dedication of public parkland;ii.

A pedestrian trail network through the site;iii.

Integration of local commercial and duplex zoning into
the proposal;

iv.

Any other matters as specified by Council; andv.

Commence the preparation of an Official Community Plan
amendment bylaw and a Zoning amendment bylaw for the
proposed development on the subject property. 

b.

8. BYLAWS - OFFICIAL COMMUNITY PLANNING AND ZONING

8.1 Zoning Bylaw Amendment – 1148 Rocky  Creek Road 123

Recommendation
That Council adopt “Town of Ladysmith Zoning Bylaw 2014, No. 1860,
Amendment Bylaw (No. 31) 2020, No. 2040”.

9. REPORTS

9.1 Gill Road Lift Station Generator Construction Award 128

Recommendation
That Council award the contract for the Gill Road Lift Station generator to
David Stalker Excavating Ltd. for $340,861.50 including GST.

9.2 Waterfront Area Watermain Installation 130

Recommendation
That Council:

Direct staff to construct a new watermain from the French Street
watermain terminus adjacent to Oyster Bay Drive to the
northeast end of the Machine Shop building for an estimated
cost of $371,000; and

1.

Obtain funding for this project from the Water Reserve and that
the 2020-2024 Financial Plan be amended to reflect this change.

2.
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9.3 Swim Club Rental Rates – Proposed Amendments to Parks, Recreation
& Culture Fees and Charges Policy NO. 05-1810-E

133

Recommendation
That Council direct staff to amend the “Parks, Recreation & Culture Fees
and Charges Policy No. 05-1810-E” as follows:

Remove existing language stating that the subsidy does not
apply to specialized facilities such as swimming pools; and

1.

Add a Registered non-profit youth swim club 15% subsidy for the
FJCC swimming pool.

2.

9.4 Town of Ladysmith 2019 Statement of Financial Information 144

Recommendation
That Council approve the Town of Ladysmith Statement of Financial
Information for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019.

9.5 Town of Ladysmith 2019 Annual Report

To view the 2019 Annual Report please follow this link:
https://www.ladysmith.ca/city-hall/reports-publications

Recommendation
That Council adopt the Town of Ladysmith 2019 Annual Report.

10. BYLAWS

10.1 Town of Ladysmith Tax Sale Deferment Bylaw, 2020, No. 2043 196

The purpose of Bylaw No. 2043 is to defer the annual tax sale for 2020
until September 27, 2021.

Recommendation
That Council adopt "Town of Ladysmith Tax Sale Deferment Bylaw,
2020, No. 2043".

11. CORRESPONDENCE

11.1 Ladysmith Health Food Store 197

Petition regarding the placement of the public toilet (please note two
comments were redacted due to inappropriate language).

Recommendation
That Council receive for consideration the correspondence and petition
from the Ladysmith Health Food Store regarding the location of the
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public toilet on 1st Avenue.

12. NEW BUSINESS

13. QUESTION PERIOD

Residents can submit questions to Council via email at info@ladysmith.ca
during the meeting.

Persons wishing to address Council must be Town of Ladysmith
residents, non-resident property owners, or operators of a business.

•

Individuals must include their name and address for identification
purposes.

•

Questions put forth must be on topics which are not normally dealt with
by Town staff as a matter of routine.

•

Questions must be brief and to the point.•

No commitments shall be made by the Chair in replying to a question.
Matters which may require action of the Council shall be referred to a
future meeting of the Council

•

14. ADJOURNMENT
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MINUTES OF A SPECIAL MEETING OF COUNCIL 

 

Monday, July 27, 2020 

5:00 P.M. 

Frank Jameson Community Centre 

810 6th Avenue, Ladysmith, BC 

 

Council Members Present: 

Mayor Aaron Stone 

Councillor Duck Paterson 

Councillor Amanda Jacobson 

Councillor Rob Johnson 

Councillor Tricia McKay 

Councillor Marsh Stevens 

Councillor Jeff Virtanen 

   

   

Guests: 

Jerry Berry, JB Consultants Inc. 

Gary Nason, JB Consultants Inc. 

 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor Stone called this Special Council Meeting to order at 5:00 p.m.  

2. AGENDA APPROVAL 

CS 2020-227 

That Council approve the agenda for this Special Meeting of Council for July 27, 

2020. 

Motion Carried 

 

3. CLOSED SESSION 

CS 2020-228 

That, in accordance with section 90(1) of the Community Charter, Council retire 

into closed session at in order to consider items related to the following: 

 personal information about an identifiable individual who holds or is being 

considered for a position as an officer, employee or agent of the municipality - 

section 90(1)(a) 

Motion Carried 
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4. RISE AND REPORT- Items from Closed Session 

Council rose at 7:00 p.m. without report. 

 

5. ADJOURNMENT 

CS 2020-229 

That this Special Meeting of Council adjourn at 7:01 p.m. 

Motion Carried 

 

 

 

   

Mayor (A. Stone)  Corporate Officer (D. Smith) 
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MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF COUNCIL 

 

Tuesday, August 4, 2020 

7:00 P.M. 

This meeting was held electronically 

as per Ministerial Order No. M192 

 

Council Members Present: 

Mayor Aaron Stone 

Councillor Duck Paterson 

Councillor Rob Johnson 

Councillor Tricia McKay 

Councillor Marsh Stevens 

Councillor Jeff Virtanen 

   

Staff Present: 

Erin Anderson 

Donna Smith 

Jake Belobaba 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor Stone called this Regular Meeting of Council to order at 7:00 p.m., 

recognizing that it was taking place on the traditional unceded territory of the 

Stz'uminus People. 

 

2. AGENDA APPROVAL 

CS 2020-230 

That Council approve the agenda for this Regular Meeting of Council for August 

4, 2020. 

Motion Carried 

 

3. MINUTES 

3.1 Minutes of the Regular Meeting of Council held July 21, 2020 

CS 2020-231 

That Council approve the minutes of the Regular Meeting of Council held 

July 21, 2020. 

Motion Carried  
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4. REPORTS 

4.1 Housing Needs Assessment: Communications and Engagement Plan 

CS 2020-232 

That Council receive as information the Housing Needs Assessment 

Communications and Engagement Plan report. 

Motion Carried  

 

5. BYLAWS 

5.1 Deferment of the 2020 Tax Sale 

CS 2020-233 

That Council give first, second and third readings to "Town of Ladysmith 

Tax Sale Deferment Bylaw, 2020, No. 2043". 

Motion Carried  

 

6. CORRESPONDENCE 

6.1 Rotary Golf Clubs of Ladysmith and Chemainus 10th Annual 

Fundraising Golf Tournament 

CS 2020-234 

That Council: 

1. Allocate $350 to sponsor a hole at the 9th Annual Rotary Club 

Fundraising Golf Tournament on September 26, 2020. 

2. Enter a team in the tournament at their own cost, if there is interest. 

Motion Carried  

 

7. QUESTION PERIOD 

 There were no questions from the public. 
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8. ADJOURNMENT 

CS 2020-235 

That this Regular meeting of Council adjourn at 7:15 p.m.  

Motion Carried 

 

 

 

 

 

   

Mayor (A. Stone)  Corporate Officer (D. Smith) 
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MINUTES OF A SPECIAL MEETING OF COUNCIL 

 

Friday, August 7, 2020 

9:00 A.M. 

Oyster Bay Microtel Inn & Suites 

12570 Trans Canada Highway 

 

Council Members Present: 

Mayor Aaron Stone 

Councillor Duck Paterson 

Councillor Amanda Jacobson 

Councillor Rob Johnson 

Councillor Tricia McKay 

Councillor Marsh Stevens 

Councillor Jeff Virtanen 

   

Guests: 

Jerry Berry, JB Consultants Inc. 

Gary Nason, JB Consultants Inc. 

 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor Stone called this Special Council Meeting to order at 9:00 a.m. 

 

2. AGENDA APPROVAL 

CS 2020-236 

That Council approve the agenda for this Special Meeting of Council for August 

7, 2020. 

Motion Carried 

 

3. CLOSED SESSION 

CS 2020-237 

That, in accordance with section 90(1) of the Community Charter, Council retire 

into closed session in order to consider items related to the following: 

 personal information about an identifiable individual who holds or is being 

considered for a position as an officer, employee or agent of the municipality - 

section 90(1)(a) 

Motion Carried 
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4. RISE AND REPORT- Items from Closed Session 

Council rose from Closed Session at 5:00 p.m. without report. 

 

5. ADJOURNMENT 

CS 2020-238 

That this Special Meeting of Council adjourn at 5:01 p.m. 

Motion Carried 

 

 

 

   

Mayor (A. Stone)  Corporate Officer (D. Smith) 
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STAFF REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 

Report Prepared By:  Julie Thompson, Acting Senior Planner 
Meeting Date: August 18, 2020  
File No:  ZBL 3360-20-03 
RE: ZONING BYLAW AND OCP AMENDMENT – LOT A MALONE ROAD 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
That Council: 
 

1. Direct that application 3360-20-03 (Lot A District Lot 126 Oyster District Plan VIP73132 
Except Part in Plan EPP23747) proceed for further consideration and; 
a. Having considered section 475 (consultation during development of an OCP) and 

section 476 (consultation on planning for school facilities) of the Local Government 
Act direct staff to refer the application to: 

i. Stz’uminus First Nation pursuant to the Memorandum of Understanding; 
ii. School District 68 (Nanaimo Ladysmith); 

iii. The Community Planning Advisory Committee; 
iv. The BC Ministry of Transportation and Instructure, BC Transit and BC Hydro;  
v. The Cowichan Valley Regional District; and 

 
2. Direct that staff: 

a. Work with the applicant regarding a community amenity contribution and/or land 
use matters and report back to Council, specifically with regard to the following 
items: 

i. The existing covenants on the property title for stormwater management, 
road dedication, and community amenities; 

ii. Dedication of public parkland;  
iii. A pedestrian trail network through the site; 
iv. Integration of local commercial and duplex zoning into the proposal;  
v. Any other matters as specified by Council; and 

b. Commence the preparation of an Official Community Plan amendment bylaw and a 
Zoning amendment bylaw for the proposed development on the subject property. 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
The applicant is proposing to amend the Official Community Plan (OCP) designation and zoning 
on a 6.8ha property located at the northwest end of Malone Road (see subject property map) 
to change the mix and configuration of  single family and multi-family residential development 
and allow the proposed single family residential areas of the development to be “small lot 
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residential”. It is recommended that the application proceed for further consideration as it may 
be supported by several OCP policies. 
 
PREVIOUS COUNCIL DIRECTION: 
Resolution # & 
Meeting Date 

Council Resolution & Details 

2014-169 
May 12, 2014 

Moved and seconded: 
That Town of Ladysmith Official Community Plan Bylaw 2003, No. 1488, Amendment Bylaw 
(No.38) 2012, No. 1790 be read a third time and adopted. 
Motion Carried 
 

2014-170 
May 12, 2014 

Moved and seconded:  
That Town of Ladysmith Zoning Bylaw 1995, No. 1160, Amendment Bylaw (No. 88) 2012, No. 
179 be read a third time and adopted.  
Motion carried. 
 

 
INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND: 
The subject property is located along the 
western edge of the municipal boundary 
off the end of Malone Road. The total site 
area is 7.72ha in size; however, a road 
dedication and three park areas were 
taken from the parent parcel through the 
previous rezoning in 2014, leaving the 
subject property with 6.8ha of land for 
potential development. The site is further 
constrained by Streamside Protection and 
Enhancement Areas (SPEAs) associated 
with Rocky Creek. The property has an 
uneven topography with some steeply 
sloping areas and exposed bedrock, is 
mostly forested and contains an old 
logging road and trails. The property is 
approximately 1.5km from the Town’s 
downtown core. 
 
The following table describes the 
surrounding properties: 
Direction Use 

North Kinsmen Park & Playground (Brown Drive Park), forested park land, residential 

East Single family and multi-family residential 

South Vacant single family residential zoned land, BC Hydro corridor, CVRD vacant land 

West  BC Hydro corridor, CVRD vacant lands 

Figure 1: Subject property and surrounding area. 
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The applicant is proposing to amend the subject property’s OCP designation and zoning to allow 
for small lot single family residential development on the portion of the site generally north of 
Malone Road. The portion south of Malone road will remain multi-family but the applicant is 
proposing a different multi-family zone for this area. Specifically, the applicant is proposing: 

 A 4.46ha single family residential area consisting of 79 lots 

 A 0.82ha multi-family residential area on the southern end of the site 

 Parkland consisting of a 700.4m² “park staging area” (a parking lot for the adjacent Brown 
Drive Park) and a 1335.1m² park in the middle of the site 

 A pedestrian trail connection to the BC Hydro corridor 

 A 6m tree buffer along the length of the western subject property boundary 
 
The applicant’s proposal is shown in figure 3 and in the site plan attached to this report. 

Figure 2: Current zoning of subject property and surrounding area. 
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ANALYSIS: 
On the proposed single family 
residential area, the applicant is 
proposing the Single Dwelling 
Residential – Small Lot A (R-1-A) 
zone, with a Single Family 
Residential OCP designation. On 
the multi-family residential area, 
the applicant is proposing the 
Medium Density Residential (R-
3) zone. The multi-family 
residential area is already within 
the Multi-Family Residential OCP 
designation, which would be 
retained. The applicant has also 
expressed interest in duplexes 
(referred to as ‘two family 
dwellings’ in the OCP) and a local 
commercial area on the multi-
family residential site (see 
Proposed Zoning section for 
further information).  
 
Official Community Plan 
Policies: 
The subject property is currently 
designated Multi-Family 
Residential and Single Family 
Residential, as shown in figure 4. 
If the application is approved, 
the designation of the area north 
of Malone Road would be 

designated Single Family 
Residential and the area south of 
Malone Road would remain 

designated Multi-Family Residential (see figure 3). 
 
The Single Family Residential designation provides for low density, ground-oriented residential 
uses including single family (with suites), duplexes, and small lot single family residential 
development in neighbourhoods. The proposed change in designation from Multi-Family 
Residential to Single Family Residential on the proposed single family site would facilitate the 
applicant’s proposal for small lot residential development under the R-1-A zone (Single Dwelling 
Residential – Small Lot A zone).  
 

Single family 
residential area 

Multi-
family 

residential 
area 

 

Contains Rocky 
Creek SPEA 

Contains Rocky 
Creek tributary 
& SPEA 

Figure 3: The applicant’s proposed site plan. Single family residential is 
shown within the peach coloured area. Multi-family residential is shown in 
the yellow area.  
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Additional OCP policies relevant to the proposal include the following: 
OCP Section Relevant Policy Summary  

3.1.4 Growth 
Management 
Policies 

 Direct residential growth to 5 general areas in Ladysmith, including North 
Ladysmith, within the Urban Containment Boundary.  

 Reduction of land consumption through increased residential densities, such as 
compact lots, is promoted in appropriate locations. 

 

3.2.3  Land Use 
 Planning and 
 Community 
 Design Policies 
 & 
3.3.3  Environment 
 Policies 

 Use of ecological features to help determine suitable developable areas for new 
development. 

 Integrated neighbourhoods that incorporate a variety of housing types and 
densities and local service commercial development will be encouraged in new 
neighbourhoods. 

 Encourage protection of Environmentally Sensitive Areas, including riparian areas 
and steep slopes. 

 Encourage greenway development at time of subdivision; greenways to be used for 
cycling and walking to link different neighbourhoods. 

 Development adjacent to or in proximity to sensitive areas, including steep slopes, 
is reviewed and approved by a geotechnical engineer and registered professional 
biologist. 

3.4.3 Transportation  Development applications for larger commercial and residential development will 

Figure 4: Current OCP designation map of the subject property. The light 
yellow area is within the Single Family Residential designation and the dark 
yellow area is within the Multi-Family Residential designation. 

Single Family 
Residential 

Multi-Family 
Residential 

Page 17 of 205



OCP Section Relevant Policy Summary  

Policies be examined for their potential to accommodate future transit service. 
 

3.5.2 Economic 
Development 
Policies  

 Complementary commercial areas to be provided to serve local neighbourhoods. 
 

3.5.3 Community 
Facilities and 
Services Policies 

 Parkland shall generally be acquired through land dedication or cash-in-lieu of land 
payment at subdivision based on the maximum 5% dedication provided for by the 
Local Government Act. 

 Every household should be within 0.5km of at least one category of park 
(Community Feature Parks, Community Active Parks, Neighbourhood Parks, Special 
Areas, and Linear Parks). 

 
The proposed development is within the urban containment boundary and is supported by or 
has the potential to meet all of the OCP policies listed above. Duplex and local commercial 
development may also be supported. Should the application proceed, it is recommended that 
the applicant provide for more trails throughout the site to accommodate better pedestrian 
connectivity with the proposed and surrounding parks and between streets.   
 
Development Permit Areas:  
The OCP states that small lot single family development as ‘intensive residential development’ 
may require a Development Permit Area (DPA). The proposed single family residential site may 
be considered ‘intensive residential’ and thus require a DPA, but further analysis will be 
required as the site design evolves1.  
 
Much of the subject property is currently located within Development Permit Area 8 (DPA 8) - 
Multi-Unit Residential Environmentally Sensitive Area (ESA). DPA 8 provides guidelines for the 
design of multi-unit residential development. DPA 8 will be retained on the proposed multi-
family residential site; however, it is proposed that the DPA 8 designation be removed from the 
proposed single family residential site and be replaced by different development permit area 
designations or other regulations which are more suitable for single family residential 
development, specifically:  

 Adding a new boundary for the Riparian Development Permit Area (DPA 6) where 
riparian areas are found on the subject property. 

 Adding a new boundary for the Hazard Lands Development Permit Area (DPA 7) where 
any areas are found to have hazardous slopes.   

 If appropriate, requiring the 6m landscape buffer in a section 219 restrictive covenant. 
 
The applicant has provided a Geotechnical Hazard Assessment and an Ecological Assessment 
(with an addendum) for the subject property and staff will work with the applicant to use these 

                                                      
1 Under policy 3.2.3 (4) of the existing OCP, single family residential is considered ‘intensive residential 
development’ if it meets an average density threshold determined on a “parcel by parcel basis”. The 

design may change, which will effect these calculations.    
 

Page 18 of 205



reports to determine the extent of a new DPA 6 and DPA 7 boundary. These reports are 
described in more detail in the Wildfire, Geotechnical and Environmental Studies section of this 
report. 
 
Current Zoning: 
The subject property is currently zoned Comprehensive Development 3 – Malone Road 
Residential (CD-3). The zone was adopted through a Zoning Bylaw amendment in 2014. The CD-
3 zone consists of three sub zone areas, shown in figure 5: 

 Area A: allows Single Unit Dwellings and has a minimum parcel area of 668m². 

 Area B: allows Single Unit Dwellings and duplexes and has a minimum parcel area of 
668m² for Single Unit Dwellings and a minimum parcel area of 780m² for duplexes. 

 Area C: allows Multiple-Unit Dwellings (townhouses and apartments), has a minimum 
parcel area of 2.5ha, a maximum density of 103 total units, a floor space ratio of 0.66 
and a parcel coverage maximum of 33%. 

 
The maximum number of units allowed under the current CD-3 zone is approximately 138-158 
units. 
 

Proposed Zoning: 
The applicant is proposing to 
rezone the northern portion 
of the subject property 
(shown in red on figure 5) to 
the Single Dwelling 
Residential – Small Lot A (R-1-
A) zone. The R-1-A zone 
permits Single Unit Dwelling 
as a principal permitted use 
and allows Secondary Suite as 
an accessory use. With a 
minimum parcel area of 
460m² in the R-1-A zone, the 
proposed single family 
residential site would allow a 
maximum of 131 single unit 
parcels.  
 
The applicant is proposing a 
total of 79 single unit dwelling 
parcels with parcel areas 

ranging from 460m² to 979m² in 
size.  
 

Figure 5: Current CD-3 sub-zone areas and proposed changes rezoned to 
R-3. The proposed R-1-A zone is represented in a red outline and the 
proposed R-3 zone is represented in a green outline. 
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The applicant is also proposing to rezone the multi-family residential area (shown in green in 
figure 5) to the Medium Density Residential (R-3) zone which permits Multiple-Unit Dwellings 
and Townhouses as principal permitted uses. The maximum number of units permitted in this 
area under the R-3 zone is approximately 49 units (60 units per hectare). In comparison, the 
existing zoning simply specifies a maximum of 103 multi-family units for all of “Area C” which 
equates to 27 units per hectare (103 divided by 3.76 ha equals 27 units per hectare).  
 
In total, if the rezoning is approved as proposed, approximately 180 units will be allowed on the 
parcel at approximately 26 units per hectare, compared to the current CD-3 zoning, which 
allows approximately 138-158 units at approximately 20-23 units per hectare. In either 
scenario, site constraints (such as those noted in the reports below), economic conditions, or 
developer choice may result in a lower density than the maximum—i.e. there is no minimum 
density requirement.   
  
The applicant has also expressed interest in incorporating local commercial uses and duplexes 
into the proposal. The OCP supports a mix of local commercial and multi-family uses and a 
variety of housing types though economic and land use planning policies (see OCP policies 
summary). If Council is supportive, staff will work with the applicant to evaluate these options 
further. 
 
Wildfire, Geotechnical & Environmental Studies: 
The applicant has submitted a series of studies relevant to the proposal, which are summarized 
in the table below. The specific findings of these reports are notable, as they identify site 
constraints that impact the type and density of development on the site.  
 
Study Summary of Key Recommendations & Findings Staff Comments 

Geotechnical Hazard 
Assessment by 
Lewkowich 
Engineering 
Associates Ltd. (April 
6, 2020) 

 No residence shall be constructed on a bedrock 
slope that is steeper than 45 degrees. 

 No residence shall be constructed on a soil 
slope greater than 27 degrees. 

 Rock scaling/removal of the detached boulders 
to mitigate associated hazard.  

 Setback of 5m to both the crest and toe of 
each rock bluff. 

 Minimum setback of 30m from Rocky Creek 

 Minimum Flood Construction Level of 3m 
above the natural boundary of Rocky Creek. 

 Minimum setback of 15m from other 
watercourses adjacent to the subject property. 

 The geotechnical report should be registered 
as a Section 219 restrictive covenant. 

 There are safe building sites within each of the 
lots 

 Provided the recommendations are followed, 
the land is considered safe for the use 
intended. 

 Recommendations for steep slope 
areas can be utilized to inform the 
application of a Hazard Lands 
Development Permit Area. 
However, further geotechnical 
analysis will be required to 
determine more precise locations of 
steep slope areas. 

 Further geotechnical analysis may 
be required for evaluation of the 
proposed multi-family residential 
area. 

 A final version of the geotechnical 
report may be registered as a 
Section 219 restrictive covenant. 

Ecological  The property is found to be within the Coastal  The northern portion of what was 
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Study Summary of Key Recommendations & Findings Staff Comments 

Assessment 
(Madrone 
Environmental 
Services Ltd, May 
25, 2010), and 
Environmental 
Review addendum 
(D.R. Clough 
Consulting, April 22, 
2020) 

Douglas Fir, Moist Maritime Subzone. 

 The northern portion of the Environmentally 
Sensitive Development Permit Area (DPA) 
slopes and rock outcrops facing Rocky Creek, 
as well as riparian areas should remain intact 
to maintain connectivity to the creek and avoid 
encroachment into the SPEA. 

 Dry, rocky outcrop forest types identified on 
the property are important environmentally 
sensitive ecosystems 

 One wildlife tree was found and will ultimately 
be protected by the SPEA adjacent to one of 
the Rocky Creek tributaries.  

 Addendum found no significant changes to the 
property since the 2010 assessment except the 
trees are larger and there are less invasive 
species.  

formerly an Environmentally 
Sensitive DPA area contains a SPEA 
adjacent to Rocky Creek, and was 
dedicated as park during the 
previous rezoning application. 

 The SPEA areas south and north of 
Rocky Creek tributary were also 
dedicated as park during the 
previous rezoning. 

 The applicant is proposing to 
preserve the rocky outcrop in the 
centre of the subject property. 
Further evaluation will be required 
to determine if this area is suitable 
as a public park.  

 Further evaluation is required by 
the QEP to determine the extent of 
any Riparian Assessment Areas 
adjacent to Rocky Creek and its 
tributaries. 

Wildland Urban 
Interface Wildfire 
Hazard Assessment 
(Strathcona Forestry 
Consulting, February 
22, 2020) 

 The current wildfire threat for the subject 
property is rated as “Moderate – High”. 
Contributing factors to the high rating include 
forest fuel loading, hilly terrain, and present 
lack of fireflow access. High and extreme 
ratings are unacceptable and must be lowered 
to low are moderate to ensure a structure or 
area is safe.  

 Implementation of Firesmart principles 
outlined in the report should be undertaken. 

 Retaining the moss-covered rocky outcrop in 
the centre of the site as a “natural area” could 
be used as a landscaping strategy to prevent 
wildfire. To preserve the integrity of this 
feature, installation of fencing around the area 
is recommended to prevent trampling and soil 
disturbance, which will encroach 
encroachment of broom. 

 Recommendations in the report 
may be included in a Section 219 
restrictive covenant. 

 Further analysis may be required to 
determine how the proposed park 
on the rocky outcrop may be used, 
and if fencing around it is an option.  

 
Existing Covenants and Community Amenity Contribution Policy: 
Through the Town’s Community Amenity Contribution (CAC) Policy, Council encourages 
rezoning applicants to consider proposing CACs towards needed infrastructure and amenities as 
a way of ensuring that the proposed development is seen as making a positive contribution to 
the neighbourhood and the community at large. 
 
There are three restrictive covenants registered on the subject property related to the previous 
rezoning in 2014 and the current CD-3 zone. These covenants require road dedication, 
stormwater management, and several community amenities including a single family 
residential parcel for Habitat for Humanity. Should the application proceed for further 

Page 21 of 205



consideration, staff will work with the applicant to maintain these requirements and, if 
required, align them with the new proposal (i.e. bring forward modifications for Council’s 
approval) Council may also specify amenities it would like to see as part of the application. 
 
DISCUSSION: 
The proposed changes to the Zoning Bylaw and OCP would allow for a similar density to that of 
the existing CD-3 zone and would maintain a combination of multi-family residential and single 
family residential (and possibly duplex) zoning. As the proposal is consistent with and has the 
potential to meet several OCP policies, it is recommended that the application proceed for 
further consideration. If the application proceeds, further analysis will be required to ensure 
the site will be developed with particular consideration to the topography (steep slopes), 
riparian areas, environmentally sensitive areas, parks and trail connectivity, future and existing 
covenants and community amenity contributions. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
Council can choose to: 

1. Deny OCP and rezoning application 3360-20-03. 
2. Direct that changes related to:  

a. density, 
b. land use,  
c. amenities, or  
d. other elements of the proposal,  

be made to the proposal prior to further consideration, as specified by Council. 
3. Defer further consideration of the application until the Town has updated its OCP.  

 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 
N/A 
 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: 
Section 475 of the Local Government Act requires that when considering an amendment to an 
OCP, the local government must provide consultation opportunities to stakeholders it considers 
will be affected and consider whether the opportunities for consultation should be early and 
ongoing. If Council wishes to proceed with the application, staff recommend that the  
application be referred to the Stz’uminus First Nation, School District 68 (Nanaimo Ladysmith), 
the Community Planning Advisory Committee, the Ministry of Transportation and Instructure, 
BC Transit, BC Hydro and the Cowichan Valley Regional District. 
 
Section 476 of the Local Government Act requires that the local government consult with the 
local school district board of education where an OCP amendment is proposed, for the purpose 
of planning for school facilities. If Council wishes to proceed with the report recommendations, 
the application will be referred to the School District 68 (Ladysmith Nanaimo) Board of 
Education. 
 
CITIZEN/PUBLIC RELATIONS IMPLICATIONS: 

Page 22 of 205

https://www.bclaws.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/r15001_14#section475
https://www.bclaws.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/r15001_14#section476


Should the application proceed for further consideration, the Town’s procedure bylaws and the 
Local Government Act require the following: 

 The applicant will be required to hold a neighbourhood information meeting; 

 The application will be referred to the Community Planning Advisory Committee; 

 Notification will need to be published/delivered; and 

 A public hearing will need to be held. 
 
INTERDEPARTMENTAL INVOLVEMENT/IMPLICATIONS:  
The application has been forwarded to Engineering and Parks Recreation & Culture for initial 
feedback on the proposal. At time of writing this report, written comments have not been 
received. If the application proceeds, it will also be referred to Building Inspection, Financial 
Services, and Infrastructure Services for further comment.  
  
ALIGNMENT WITH SUSTAINABILITY VISIONING REPORT: 

☒Complete Community Land Use   ☒ Low Impact Transportation 

☐Green Buildings     ☒ Multi-Use Landscapes 

☐Innovative Infrastructure   ☐ Local Food Systems 

☐Healthy Community    ☒ Local, Diverse Economy 

☐ Not Applicable 
 
ALIGNMENT WITH STRATEGIC PRIORITIES: 

☐Infrastructure    ☒ Economy 

☒Community    ☐ Not Applicable 

☐Waterfront     
 
I approve the report and recommendation(s). 
 
Erin Anderson, Acting Chief Administrative Officer 
 
ATTACHMENT(S): 
- Appendix A: Lot layout proposal 

- Appendix B: Geotechnical Hazard Assessment (Lewkowich Engineering Associates Ltd.) 

- Appendix C: Ecological Assessment (Madrone Environmental Services, May 25, 2010) 

- Appendix D: Environmental Review of Malone Road Property (addendum to Ecological Assessment, 
D.R. Clough Consulting, April 22, 2020) 

- Appendix E: Wildland Urban Interface Wildfire Hazard Assessment (Strathcona Forestry Consulting, 
February 22, 2020) 
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D. R. Clough Consulting 
Fisheries Resource Consultants 
6966 Leland Road Lantzville B.C.  V0R 2H0  
Ph/fax: 1-250-390-2901, email: drclough@shaw.ca 
 
 
April 22, 2020 
 
 
Attn: Chris Sharpe  
Land owner, Malone Road 
chris.sharpe@shaw.ca 
 

RE: Environmental Review End of Malone Road Property, 
Ladysmith, BC. 
 
 
Dear sir, 
 

Introduction:  
There is an application into the Town of Ladysmith to have this property rezoned. As part of the 
rezoning, the town has asked for clarification on environmental aspects pertaining to the new 
zoning. 

- review the past environmental assessment1 and confirm it applies to the current zoning  
- confirm the development plans includes protection of the environmental areas – rocky 

outcrops, wildlife trees and riparian areas.  
 

Methods:  
The property is Rem A, Plan VIP 73132 District Lot 126 Oyster District. PID 025-218-280. 
A site inspection was conducted in March 17, 2020 by Dave Clough RPBio with the property 
owner. The environmental features such as rocky outcrops and stream riparian areas were 
inspected.  
 

Results:  
A review of the property confirmed there had been no significant changes to the property since 
the 2010 assessment.   
 
Roadways/trails: The property has a gravel road running east to west from Malone Road. There 
is an existing cross culvert in the road for Tributary 1. There is an over growing logging road 
being used as a foot trail at the north end along the edge of Rocky Creek.  These attributes do 
not appear to have changed appreciably. 
 
Drainages: the Madrone (2010) report identifies three waterways; Tributary 1, & 2 and Rocky 
(Tyee) Creek. Tributary 1 on the south was flowing through a culvert under the property access 
road then to the gate where it runs off Malone Road into a manhole. Water flow was up after 
recent rains. There was no signs of overflowing or changes to the channel.  

                                                        
1 Madrone Environmental Services, May 25, 2010, Ecological Assessment Malone Road, Ladysmith B.C. 
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Tributary 1 was dry. This ephemeral channel is on the west border and heads into Rocky Creek 
over a steep bank. Rocky Creek was flowing outside the north property line. This channel is 
braided and runs along a 10m wide flood plain. It has indications the 3-4 m wide channel moves 
laterally across the floodplain due to instability indicators of gravel and log debris from historic 
logging disturbance. Since the 2010 evaluation, there are indications the channel has shown 
some recovery of instability with trees and shrubbery establishing on old meanders.   
 
Terrestrial Ecosystem: Overall, the Coastal Douglas Fir eco-zone has continued to grow from 
its last harvest. The invasive plants identified in the 2010 report as a concern (i.e. Himalayan 
Blackberry) are diminished by the shade of 10 years tree growth.  The site has had no detected 
significant disturbance such as fire, logging or disease. There are likely some new foot trails 
developed in the 10 years; one was found running north-south connecting gravel roads. The route 
was opportunistic and used existing clear areas with no noticeable vegetation removal.  
 
Rock Outcrops: identified in the Madrone report as well as by the Town of Ladysmith planning 
department as preferential park areas. There is a small rock outcrop along a small ridge line that 
runs north to south through the property.  There was one opening approximately 5.0 by 5.0 m in 
the central area of the property, this area has been identified as a Park Area on the property plan 
(Fig. 1).  
 
Park Areas: The four Park areas were inspected. They include the higher value areas identified 
in the Madrone Report.  

- Southeast Park- protects the riparian area of the lower segment of Tributary 1 
- Southwest park – protects the upper riparian area of Tributary 1 
- Northwest Park- protects the largest rock bluff area 
- Northeast park – protects the riparian area of Rocky Creek  

 
Wildlife Habitat: A wildlife tree in the Madrone report will be protected in the Park/riparian 
reserve  area of tributary 1. In the March 2020 walk, there were no significant wildlife 
observations; the property had at least three groups walking or riding bikes during the 2 hour 
walk. Large wildlife and many birds are very likely disturbed by the human activity reducing our 
chances.  
 

Conclusions 
The condition of the property has not changed for the worse in 10 years since the Madrone 
assessment. The trees are taller, there are less invasive species and Rocky Creek channels is 
more entrenched. The development has  accommodated the environmental features identified in 
the report. 
 
 
 
Regards 
. 

 
Dave Clough,RPBio 
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Figure 1 – Site Plan Malone Road with Park Areas. 
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Wildfire Interface Hazard Assessment: 
End of Malone Road Rezoning Application 
 

 

 

Executive Summary 
 
In accordance with the Town of Ladysmith’s Development Approval Bylaws, Mr. Chris Sharpe retained 

Strathcona Forestry Consulting to conduct a wildfire interface assessment of property proposed for 

rezoning for residential development at the end of Malone Road in Ladysmith. 

Assessment of the current wildland urban interface (WUI) / wildfire threat rating at the subject property 

is High. Contributing factors for the current rating include the extent and continuity of woody fuels at the 

site and in surrounding lands, hilly terrain, and present lack of fireflow and access. Under the provincial 

Wildfire Threat Rating system, ratings must be moderate or less to be considered acceptable.  

This report provides FireSmart recommendations for vegetation management, construction options, 

and infrastructure improvements.  In my professional opinion, if the recommendations contained in this 

report are followed during planning and development of the subject proposal, the risk of wildfire can be 

reduced to ensure the safety of the intended development.  

Fire prevention and protection in the interface zone are ongoing processes. Long-term implementation 

of FireSmart mitigation is essential to ensure protection for life, property, and ecological processes in 

the Town of Ladysmith’s wildfire interface zone.  

 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Page 105 of 205



Strathcona Forestry Consulting 

3   

   

Background:    In accordance with the Town of Ladysmith’s Development Approval Bylaws, Mr. Chris 

Sharpe retained Strathcona Forestry Consulting to conduct a wildfire hazard assessment of a 

development proposal at the end of Malone Road. 

 

The interface (wildland urban interface/wildland residential interface) describes any area where 

combustible wildland fuels are found adjacent to homes or other buildings. Under Section 919.1(1) (a) 

of the Local Government Act, development permits may be designated where protection of Natural 

Hazard Lands is justified. Natural hazards, including wildfires, may put life and property, and local 

biodiversity, at risk if development is inappropriately situated and not well planned.  

 

Hazard Assessment:  This report describes the vegetation, terrain, and infrastructure on and around 

the subject property, and provides recommendations to reduce the risk of wildfire. Assessment criteria 

are based on Rating Interface Wildfire Threats in British Columbia (https://www2.gov.bc.ca/), FireSmart 

(FireSmart, Protecting Your Community From Wildfire (Second Edition. Partners in Protection Partners 

in Protection, 2003 (https://www.firesmartcanada.ca/), and the Home Owners FireSmart Manual (BC 

Edition - https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/public-safety-and.../homeowner-firesmart.pdf). Fire 

behavior modeling is standardized with the Canadian Forest Fire Danger Rating System (CFFDRS). 

Fuel Types listed in this assessment are customized from the CFFDRS Fuel Type list for applicability in 

south coastal BC. Assessment complies with current BC Building Code standards, and conforms to fire 

hazard planning authorized by Section 3(2) of the BC Fire Services Act. 

Field Inspection:  Field investigation entails an analysis of the interface fire hazard that the land is 

exposed to, from the perspective of the general area, local site, and proposed and existing structures in 

the general vicinity, up to 100+ m from property boundaries, where feasible. Strathcona Forestry 

Consulting conducted a field visit on February 14, 2020 with Mr. Chris Sharpe. The property owner was 

onsite at the time.  

Location and Description of Proposal:  The subject proposal is located at the distal end of Malone 

Road, on the western fringe of the Town of Ladysmith (see Site Plan pg. 4; GoogleEarth map pg. 5; 

photos Appendix 3). Residential development and a school property lie along the eastern border of the 

proposal. Rocky Creek Park borders the northern and northeastern boundaries. A BC Hydro powerline 

Right-of-way (RoW0 forms the western border of the proposal. The subject proposal is located 

strategically between Rocky Creek Park and a trail that follows the BC Hydro RoW. The subject 

proposal is gated, but the property owner told me that the gate has been vandalized a number of times, 

and trespassers drive around the gate to access the property. At the time of the assessment, I observed 

several hikers walking through the property. 

Undeveloped private forest lands extend to the south, north, and west.  

A 6 m wide buffer of tree cover is to be maintained along the western boundary of the proposal (along 

the Hydro RoW). 
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Site Plan (provided by client) 
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Google Earth map – Malone Road rezoning application. 
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Wildfire Hazard and Risk.   

Wildfire hazard is a process, a phenomenon or a human activity that may cause loss of life, injury, or 

other health impacts, property damage, social and economic disruption or environmental degradation. 

Wildfire hazard can be described qualitatively as a fire environment—fuel, weather, topography, and 

ignitions.   

Risk assessment for wildfire and its impacts to communities considers both the likelihood of a wildfire 

and the potential consequence associated with that likelihood.  For example, if the fuel (i.e. the hazard) 

ignites and the fire spreads towards the community (probability), the wildfire can become a threat to life 

and property (consequence) with an associated risk of loss.   

Determination of the wildfire hazard and risk involves a detailed assessment of potential fire behaviour, 

field reviewed fuel characteristics, proximity of fuel to the community, local fire spread patterns, 

topographical considerations and local factors. 

 

Fire Behaviour.  Fire behavior predicts how forest and wildland fuels (vegetation) will burn under 

different conditions. Fire behaviour is governed by weather (discussed below under Biogeoclimatic 

Classification), topography (discussed below under Terrain), and fuel (discussed below under 

Vegetation). 

 

Biogeoclimatic Classification. The subject proposal is located in the moist maritime Coastal Douglas-

fir moist maritime (CDFmm) biogeoclimatic subzone. Summers are warm and dry, while winters are 

moist and mild. Growing seasons are long, and often feature pronounced water deficits on zonal 

(average) and drier sites. Periods of drought are not uncommon during the fire season (April to 

October).  

 

Prevailing winds in the local area are generally southeast (to southwest). Strong northerly winds 

associated with high pressure outflow systems can occur during summer. 

 

Terrain.  Physical site characteristics affect fire behavior by affecting ignition potential and the rate of 

fire spread. The site occupies moderately sloping terrain.  

 

Fires tend to burn uphill. Developments located on upper slopes are generally at higher risk from 

wildfire compared to areas downslope. The subject property is located midslope; aspect is generally 

northeast (cooler aspect compared with southerly and westerly aspects). A fire start in the surrounding 

forest lands would have the propensity to spread, especially if fanned by winds. The Hydro Right-of-

way could provide somewhat of a fire break providing broom encroachment is managed. Currently the 

broom is low and scattered.  

 Wildfires typically burn uphill.  
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Vegetation. Fire behavior predicts how forest and wildland fuels (vegetation) will burn under different 

conditions. Fuel hazard means the potential fire behaviour, without regard to the state of weather or 

topography, based on the physical fuel characteristics, including fuel arrangement, fuel load, condition 

of herbaceous vegetation and the presence of ladder fuels.  

 

Benchmark vegetative fuel types developed by the Canadian Forest Fire Danger Rating System Fire 

Behavior System (CFFDRS) are used to forecast how a wildfire will react (cwfis.cfs.nrcan.gc.ca ›) (refer 

to Appendix 2).   

 

The subject proposal will be cleared of vegetation in conjunction with development.  

Major Fuel Types represented at the subject property include: 

Fuel Types  

Description 

 

Forest Floor & 

Surface Fuels 

 

Ladder Fuels 

 

Wildfire Behaviour 
(why and how a fire spreads) 

C-5  

Mature 

coniferous 

forest 

Fragmented 

coniferous second-

growth stand 

Mostly continuous needle 

litter; ground cover a 

combination of surface 

fuels and needle litter. 

Pockets of fine fuels 

Discontinuous to continuous 

shrub cover; discontinuous 

vertical crown fuel continuity; 

light to moderate standing 

downed and dead woody fuel 

Moderate potential for surface 

fire – moderate  intensity. Fuel 

breaks resulting from 

surrounding roads, cleared 

areas, will reduce spread of 

wildfire  

C-1 

Open stands; 

mossy rock 

outcroppings 

common 

Continuous 

lichen/moss layer; 

woody surface fuel 

accumulation light and 

scattered 

(discontinuous low 

broom maintained by 

BC Hydro) 

Very sparse herb /shrub 

cover and downed woody 

fuels; no trees on Hydro 

RoW; scattered arbutus / 

Fd on mossy rock 

outrcroppings within 

proposal site 

Negligible on Hydro RoW; 

sparse at rocky moss 

outcroppings within the stand 

Potential for surface fire in 

warmer months when ground 

surface fully exposed to heat 

and drying from sun 

 

Risk of Ignition.  Fire behavior is also affected by ignition risk. Risk of ignition represents the potential 

for fire starts. Risk of ignition could come from existing property owners residing in the local area, 

construction activities associated with development of the site, recreating public (nearby Rocky Creek 

Park and Hydro RoW, and illegal trespass (the current property owner told me that the gate has been 

vandalized several times; quad trails were evident around the gate). 

 

Risk of ignition at the subject proposal and surrounding area is rated moderate to high.  

 

Fire Spread and Intensity.  Under warm, dry conditions, there is sufficient continuity of surface and 

ladder fuels to enable a fire to start. Dry, windy conditions would increase the rate of spread. To the 

east, the extent of fire spread could be limited by surrounding fuel breaks resulting from the school 

grounds, roads, and cleared back yards.   

 

Spotting Potential. Spotting is a fire behavior characteristic in which sparks or embers are carried up 

by the wind and/or convective column and fall into other downwind fuels to ignite additional fires beyond 

the zone of direct ignition by the main fire (Firewise.org). During the process of combustion in a 
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wildland fire, a vegetation fuel is reduced to flammable vapors, soot, and ash. During the decomposition 

of the fuel, and before complete consumption, particles of varying size (firebrands) break away from the 

main fuel source and are lofted upwards by the fire's convection column.  

The danger of spotting in wildland fires is that when conditions exist to loft firebrands into the air, the 

probability exists for multiple subsequent ignitions over a wide area depending on the intensity of the 

convection and the wind speed and direction. Multiple ignitions can overwhelm any firefighting force.  

As was seen in the Fort McMurray wildfire (2016), fire spotting is one of the major ways that fires 

spread and homes are ignited and destroyed in wildland/urban interface fires. Firebrands can come 

down on and ignite combustible roofs, combustible items stored adjacent to homes, and other nearby 

combustible fuels. The resulting spot fires may go unnoticed and thus unsuppressed when an area has 

been evacuated of residents, when firefighters are spread too thin, or when spot fires are too 

numerous. 

Fire spotting is related to fire danger ratings: 

LOW 
Fuels do not ignite readily from small firebrands. There is little 
danger of spotting. 

MODERATE 
Fires can start from most accidental causes, but with the exception 
of lightning fires in some areas, the number of starts is generally 
low. Short-distance spotting may occur, but is not persistent. 

HIGH 
All fine dead fuels ignite readily and fires can start easily from 
most causes. Short-distance spotting is common. Fires may 
become serious and their control difficult. 

VERY HIGH 

Fires start easily from all causes and spread rapidly after ignition 
and quickly increase in intensity. Spot fires are a constant danger. 
Fires burning in fine fuels may quickly develop high-intensity 
characteristics, such as long-distance spotting when they burn into 
coarse fuels. 

EXTREME All fires are potentially serious. Long-distance spotting is likely. 

 

The maximum spotting distance in a particular fire varies according to several factors, including overall 

fire intensity, wind speed, fuel type, initial size of the ember when lofted up, and how rapidly it is burning 

(Firewise.org). Many embers burn up completely before landing, but larger embers of slow-burning 

fuels can keep burning for up to six minutes and travel for several kilometres. 

Definitive data about spotting potential in the area are not available. If there was a fire start during 

high/extreme windy fire weather, there is a moderate possibility of spotting in the general area where 

the property is located. 

Fire Protection.   The subject property lies within the service area of Ladysmith Fire Rescue a 

volunteer fire department. The main firehall is 330 6 Ave, Ladysmith. Ladysmith Fire Rescue provides 

fire protection to the Town of Ladysmith, parts of Saltair and the Diamond Improvement District. 

 

According to the Fire Chief of Ladysmith Fire Rescue (discussion, February 14, 2020), the subject 

proposal is within an acceptable response time. Fire department response time is the elapsed time, in 
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minutes, from when the first firefighting unit is dispatched to when the first fire fighting unit arrives at the 

emergency scene. Fire department intervention time is crucial in determining the consequences of a 

fire in terms of deaths, injuries, and loss of property and damage to the environment. An early 

aggressive and offensive primary interior attack on a working fire is usually the most effective strategy 

to reduce the loss of lives and property damage.  

 

The British Columbia Building Code addresses situations where the firefighter response time ‘exceeds 

10 minutes in 10% or more of all calls’ by requiring higher levels of non-combustible construction and 

reductions on allowable areas of unprotected openings. The Building Code should address Fire 

Department concerns. 

 

The Fire Chief noted that several new developments are expanding west into the Town’s interface. 

 
Mutual Aid.  Fire Departments within the Cowichan Valley Regional District operate under a mutual aid 

agreement with other fire departments within the region. In the case of a serious fire, mutual aid from 

nearby fire departments can benefit fire suppression by pooling manpower and resources (water 

supply, water tenders, etc.). Mutual aid may, however, not always available, especially during a wildfire 

interface emergency. 

 

Wildfires.  Ladysmith Fire Rescue automatically responds to structure fires and small, easily accessible 

bush fires inside their fire service protection area. The BC Wildfire Service generally responds to 

forested areas outside a Fire Protection Area.  

 

Water Supply. An adequate and reliable water supply for firefighting is an essential part of a 

community’s fire protection system. The Fire Underwriters Survey (FUS) Guidelines outline water 

specifications for fire protection. The BC Building Code governs the minimum water requirements for 

buildings.  

 

In fire protection areas served by a community water system, water supply for fire protection generally 

consists of a piped system in common with domestic potable water.  

 

The subject proposal will be connected to municipal water. Water main size, fire hydrant capabilities, 

and servicing will comply with the Fire Underwriters Survey (FUS) and the Town of Ladysmith 

Engineering specifications.  

 

The development proposal is currently planning single-family homes. Development of multi-family units 

would require booster pumps due to the elevation gradients at the hilly site. 

 

Access.  FireSmart infrastructure and access increase the resident and firefighter safety, and facilitate 

quick response by firefighters. Developments should have sufficient access for emergency vehicles, 

including 2-way road access in and out of any site, and safe driveway accesses. FireSmart 

infrastructure and access increase the resident and firefighter safety, and facilitate quick response by 

firefighters. Ideally, developments should have sufficient access for emergency vehicles, including 2-

way road access in and out of any site, and safe driveway accesses. Local government standards for 
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public roads generally follow the BC Building Code and Geometric Design Guide for Canadian Roads 

(www.tac-atc).  

 

The subject proposal will be accessed from Malone Road, which will merge into a new road that will 

loop through the site. Secondary access at the northern portion of the proposal is proposed in the form 

of a small parking lot to facilitate continuity for hiking access from Rocky Creek Park.  

 

Wildland Urban Interface Wildfire Threat Assessment Results: Scoring from the WUI Wildfire 

Threat Rating system and associated risk assessment modelling tools rate the current Wildfire Threat 

as “Moderate - High” at the subject property. Contributing factors for the current elevated rating include 

forest fuel loading at the subject and surrounding lands, hilly terrain, and present lack of fireflow and 

access. Under the provincial Wildfire Threat Rating system, high and extreme threat rating levels are 

unacceptable; ratings must be low or moderate to ensure a structure and/or area is safe (see Risk 

Rating Table next page).  

 

Implementation of FireSmart mitigation can be expected to reduce the wildfire risk rating. 

 

 
INTERFACE/WILDFIRE HAZARD/THREAT RATING SUMMARY: Malone Road Rezoning Application 

48
o
59.23.49”N  123

o
50’10.46”W 

 

System: Subcomponents CURRENT ratings Projected Ratings post-
development* 

MFLNRO WUI 
Wildfire Threat 
Assessment 

   

 Fire Behaviour: Fuel, 
Weather, Topography 

High  Moderate  
 

 Structural (includes 
vicinity) 

Moderate (High) Moderate 

    

    WUI Threat Class  High  Moderate 

    Wildfire  
    Behaviour  
    Threat Class 

 High  Moderate 

    Total Wildfire  
       Threat Score 

 High  Moderate 

  

HIRV Model Hazard 
Impact 
Risk 
Vulnerability 

Moderate - High  
High  
High  

Moderate - High  

Moderate 
 Moderate 
Moderate 
Moderate 

  

Risk of Ignition  Moderate to High Moderate 

  

    Overall WUI 
Wildfire        
Hazard/Threat 
Ranking 

 High Moderate 

*Projected ratings conditional upon incorporation of recommendations outlined in this report. 

 

Risk of wildfire at the subject site is currently assessed as High (probability x consequence). 
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RELATIVE WILDFIRE RISK  

Low 

Moderate  

High  

Extreme 

Fire Risk Classes 
Low (Green):  The combination of the local fuel hazard, weather influences, topography, proximity to the community, fuel 
position in relation to fire spread patterns, and known local wildfire threat factors make it a lower potential for threatening a 
community.  These stands will support surface fires, single tree or small groups of conifer trees could torch/ candle in extreme 
fire weather conditions. Fuel type spot potential is very low, low risk to any values at risk. 

Moderate (Yellow):  The combination of the local fuel hazard, weather influences, topography, proximity to the community, 
fuel position in relation to fire spread patterns and known local wildfire threat factors make it possible that a wildfire in this 
area would threaten the community. Areas of matted grass, slash, conifer plantations, mature conifer stands with very high 
crown base height, and deciduous stands with 26 to 49% conifers.  These stands will support surface fires, single tree or small 
groups of conifer trees could torch/ candle. Rates of spread would average between 2-5 meters/ minute. Forest stands would 
have potential to impact values in extreme weather conditions.  Fuel type spot potential is unlikely to impact values at a long 
distance (<400m). 

High (Orange):  The combination of the local fuel hazard, weather influences, topography, proximity to the community, fuel 
position in relation to fire spread patterns, and known local wildfire threat factors make it likely that a wildfire in this area 
would threaten the community. This includes stands with continuous surface/ crown fuel that will support regular torching/ 
candling, intermittent crown and/or continuous crown fires.   Rates of spread would average 6 -10 meters/ minute. Fuel type 
spot potential is likely to impact values at a long distance (400 -1 000m). 

Extreme (Red):  The combination of the local fuel hazard, weather influences, topography, proximity to the community, fuel 
position in relation to fire spread patterns, and known local wildfire threat factors make it very likely that a wildfire in this 
area would threaten the community. Stands with continuous surface/ crown fuel and fuel characteristics that tend to support 
the development of intermittent or continuous crown fires. Rates of spread would average >10 meters/ minute. Fuel type spot 
potential is probable to impact values at a long distance (400 -1 000m or greater).These forest stands have the greater 
potential to produce extreme fire behaviour (long range spotting, fire whirls and other fire behaviour phenomena. 
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Recommendations 
 

Living in a fire-prone ecosystem involves taking the necessary steps to protect homes, property, and 

community from wildfire. Over time, FireSmart principles have shown that they are effective at reducing 

the risk related to losses in the most extreme wildfire conditions. Vegetation management, construction 

options, and infrastructure / regulatory improvements are basic tenets of the FireSmart program. Using 

simple strategies, developers and homeowners can contribute to increasing property, neighbourhood 

and community resiliency to wildfire (FireSmart BC). 

 

Vegetation Management 

Precautions During Land Clearing and Construction 

 Ensure any land clearing activities are conducted in compliance with BC’s Wildfire Act local 

bylaws.  

 As per the BC Wildfire Act, if a high risk activity (i.e., land clearing) is taking place between 1 

April and 31 October, the operator must keep at the activity site fire fighting hand tools, in a 

combination and type to properly equip each person who works at the site with a minimum of 

one fire fighting hand tool, and an adequate fire suppression system (onsite portable water 

tanker and fire fighting tools – shovels, pulaskis, portable water backpacks). In addition, efforts 

must be made to maintain an adequate fire break between any high risk activity and areas of 

continuous forest to ensure a fire originating at the site does not escape the site. 

 During landclearing, develop an Emergency Plan of Action, listing key contact information in 

case of fire and/or other emergency at the site. 

 Hazard abatement (removal of slash/disposal of debris piles) must take place in compliance 

with Town of Ladysmith bylaws and BC’s Wildfire Act.  

 Ensure construction workers are made aware of the risk of fire in the interface zone, especially 

during dry summer weather. 

 

FireSmart Zones – (see Appendix 1) 

 Priority Zone 1a: 0-1.5 m  

A noncombustible surface should extend for 1.5 m around the entire home and any attachments, such 

as decks. 

 Landscape with noncombustible landscaping materials, such as gravel, brick, or concrete in this 

critical area adjacent to the home 

 Avoid woody shrubs, trees, or tree branches in this zone 

 Create a noncombustible zone underneath and for 1.5 m around any trailers/vehicles 

 Mitigate sheds, detached garages, and other structures to the same standards as those of the 

home 

 

 FireSmart Priority Zone 1: 0-10 m  

Establish and maintain an environment around the home and other structures that will not support fire. 

Focus on fuel removal, conversion, and reduction. 

 Plant a low density of fire resistant plants and shrubs.  

Page 115 of 205



Strathcona Forestry Consulting 

13   

   

 Avoid having any woody debris, including bark mulch, as it provides potential places for fires to 

start 

 Store items such as firewood piles, construction materials, patio furniture, tools and decorative 

pieces at least 10 m from the homes and any structures 

 Maintain grass to a minimum of 10 cm in height 

 

 FireSmart Priority Zone 2: 10-30 m  

Extend the fuel modified area 10-30 m around all structures. Conduct FireSmart thinning, pruning, and 

fuel reduction strategies in this zone to reduce fuel loading. 

 Thin and prune evergreen trees to reduce hazard in this area 

 Within 30 m of home and structures, selectively remove evergreen trees to create at least 3 m 

of horizontal space between the single or grouped tree crowns, and remove all branches to a 

height of at least 2.5 m from the ground on the remaining evergreen trees. (For smaller 

evergreen trees, the general rule of thumb is to prune branches up to a third the height of the 

tree) 

 If possible, prune the trees located up to 100 m from the homes 

 Regularly clean up accumulations of fallen branches, dry grass and needles from the ground to 

eliminate potential surface fires 

 

 FireSmart Priority Zone 3: 30-100 m  

Where fuel modification in PZ1 and PZ2 is insufficient to protect structures and/or property, thin and 

prune trees in order to create an environment that will not support high-intensity crown fires. 

 Look for opportunities to create a fire break by creating spaces between trees and other 

potentially flammable vegetation 

 Thin and prune overgrown trees to reduce hazard 

 Regularly clean up accumulations of fallen branches, dry grass, and needles from the ground to 

eliminate potential surface fires 

 

General Principles of FireSmart Landscaping  

 Incorporate FireSmart landscaping by using fire-resistive, widely spaced trees, native shrubs 

and groundcover in combination with stone and/or water features and/or maintained lawn areas. 

See FireSmart Guide to Landscaping. 

https://www.firesmartcanada.ca/resources-library/firesmart-guide-to-landscaping 

 Promptly re-vegetate any areas of soil disturbed during clearing and construction with approved 

landscaping materials and/or native plant species to prevent encroachment from invasive plant 

species (i.e., broom, which is highly combustible).  

 

Other Landscaping Strategies 

 As discussed with Mr. Sharpe during the site visit, retain the moss-covered rocky outcrop in the 

centre of the proposal as a “natural area.” In order to preserve the integrity of this feature, install 

split rail fencing around it to prevent trampling and soil disturbance, which will encourage 

encroachment of broom. 
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 The Town of Ladysmith has mandated retention of a 6 m wide buffer of trees along the western 

boundary of the proposal.  

- Prior to commencement of work in the area, a Danger Tree Assessment will be required  

- Surface and ladder fuels should be brushed in the buffer area under supervision of a QERP. 

 

Construction  

 Use fire-retardant roof covering assemblies rated Class A, B, or C (i.e., metal, tile, ULC- rated 

asphalt) and feature non-combustible siding materials (i.e., stucco, metal siding, brick, cement 

shingles or cementitious materials, poured concrete, or ULC-rated wood siding) on new 

structures. Metal, clay tile, and rated asphalt shingles are the most fire resistant roofing 

materials. Siding materials such as stucco, metal, brick and concrete offer superior fire 

resistance to wildfire. Logs and heavy timbers are a little less effective, while wood and vinyl 

siding offer very little protection.  

Follow FireSmart guidelines for design, construction, and maintenance of window and door 

glazing, eaves and vents, and decking https://www.firesmartcanada.ca/ 

 Ensure structures are equipped with working smoke alarm(s). 

 Do not allow fire pits. 

 

Water Supply / Fire Protection 
 Ensure water main, fire hydrant capabilities and servicing meet Town of Ladysmith 

specifications.  

 Encourage homeowners to maintain hoses, sprinklers, and firetools (shovels, buckets) to be 

used in an emergency. 

 

Access  
 Ensure road and driveway access requirements meet BC Building Code and Town of Ladysmith 

Engineering requirements.  

 Ensure address signage is clearly evident during the construction phase and at build-out. 

Letters, numbers, and symbols should be at least 10 cm high, with a 12 mm stroke, contrast 

with the background colour of the sign, and be reflective. 

 Ensure new structures are mapped on fire department “pre-org” (fire planning) maps. 

 

Regulatory Provisions 
 Conduct follow-up assessments (at building permit) to ensure appropriate mitigation measures 

have been implemented. 
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Appendix 1.  FireSmart Interface Priority Zones 
 
In interface areas, FireSmart advocates the establishment and maintenance of Fuel Management Zones* 
extending outward from structures and along access routes: 
Zone 1 a (0-1.5m) 
Zone 1 (0-10 m).  
Zone 2 (10-30 m).  
Zone 3 (30-100 m). 

 (FireSmart, 2003; updated 2019) 

 
Zone 1a (0-1.5 m): This is the noncombustible zone, where it is very important not to have any combustibles next 
to buildings. 
Zone 1 (0-10 m): The main objective of vegetation management is to create an environment that will not support 
fire. Vegetation management focuses on fuel removal, conversion, and reduction. 
Zone 2 (10-30 m): Where treatment in PZ 1 is not sufficient to significantly reduce the fire hazard due to fuel 
loading, extend the fuel modified area with a variety of thinning and pruning actions.  
Zone 3 (30-100 m): Where fuel modification in PZ1 and PZ2 is insufficient to protect structures and/or property, 
FireSmart advocates treatment in Priority Zone 3 with a variety of thinning and pruning actions in order to create 
an environment that will not support high-intensity crown fires. 

 
*Setback Zone distances may be extended depending on aspect, slope, fuel loading, etc. 
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Appendix 2. Generic Fuel Types (adopted from CFFDRS). 
 

Fuel 
Type 

Description  Wildfire Behaviour Under 
High Wildfire Danger 

Coniferous: 
C1 

 
 

C2 
 
 
 

C3 
 
 
 

C4 
 
 

 
 

C5 
 
 
 

 
C6 

 
 

 
C7  

 
 
 
 

D   
(Deciduous) 
 

 
 
 

M  
(Mixed 
Forest)  

 
 

S 
(Slash) 

 
 

01-Long 
 
 
 

 
01-Short 

 
Terrestrial herbaceous ecosystem: mossy rock 
outcroppings 
 
Dense regeneration to pole-sapling (immature) forest with 
crowns almost to ground 
 
 
Fully stocked, mature forest, crowns separated from 
ground; sparse understorey 
 
 
Dense, pole-sapling (immature) forest, heavy standing 
dead and down, dead woody fuel; continuous needle 
litter; continuous vertical crown fuel continuity 
 
 
Moderately well-stocked, mature forest, moderate dense 
understorey crowns well separated from ground; 
continuous needle litter 
 
 
Fully stocked conifer plantation; absent understorey; tree 
crowns separated from ground; continuous needle litter 
 
 
Open, mature coniferous stand; uneven-aged; 
discontinuous understorey; tree crowns mostly separated 
from ground 
 
 
Moderately well-stocked deciduous stands; moderate 
medium to tall shrubs and herb layers 
D-1 Leafless 
D-2 In leaf 
 
Moderately well-stocked mixed stand of conifers and 
deciduous tree species; moderate shrub understorey; 
conifer crowns extend nearly to ground 
M-1 Leafless 
M-2 in Leaf 
 
Slash from logging and land clearing 
 
 
 
Continuous standing grass – fuel loading is 0.3 kg/m2; 
scattered trees 
01-a Matted 
01-b Tall 
 
Continuous human modified short grass 

 
High potential for surface fire, especially if high 

moss/lichen 
 
High potential for crown fires; low to very high 

fire intensity and rate of spread 
 
 

Surface and crown fire, low to very high fire 
intensity and rate of spread 

 
 

High potential for crown fires, high to very high 
fire intensity and rate of spread 

 
 

 
Low to moderately fast-spreading, low to 

moderate intensity surface fire 
 
 
 

Surface fire may spread rapidly to become 
high intensity fire with high rate of spread 

 
 

Surface, torching, rarely crowning (except on 
steeper slopes), moderate to high intensity and 

rate of spread 
 
 

Typically a surface fire; low to moderate rate of 
spread and fire intensity 

 
Surface, torching and crowning; moderate to 

very high intensity and spread rate (varies with 
slope and % vegetation cover) 

 
Fine fuel % and cedar foliage retention will 

result in faster ignition and spread 
 
 

Rapid spreading, moderate to high intensity 
surface fire 

 
 

The taller, and more cured the grass, the more 
rapid spread; low to moderate intensity surface 

fire 
 
 

Typically low rate and spread and low fire 
intensity. 
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Appendix 3. Photos 

 

 
Access gate at west end of Malone Rd. Right: view looking east. Left: view looking west. 

 

 
Old logging roads traverse the property. 

 

 
 View from the BC Hydro RoW looking northeast towards the subject proposal. 
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A 6 m tree buffer is to be retained on the western boundary of the proposal along the BC Hydro RoW 

 

 
A moss-covered rocky outcropping in the centre of the subject proposal will be retained. 

 

 
Residential development and a school extend southeast from Rocky Creek Park. 
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Limitations 

 

This report provides an assessment of WUI hazard and risk. Evaluation is based on professional judgment. The 

investigation involved a field observation. Recommended treatment pertains only to the particular site as disclosed 

at the time of inspection. The report was prepared considering site-specific circumstances and conditions. It is 

intended only for use by the client for the purpose for which it was commissioned and for use by local government 

regulating the activities to which it pertains. 
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STAFF REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 

Report Prepared By:  Julie Thompson, Acting Senior Planner 
Meeting Date: August 18, 2020  
File No:  ZBL 20-01 
RE: ZONING BYLAW AMENDMENT – 1148 ROCKY  CREEK ROAD 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
That Council adopt “Town of Ladysmith Zoning Bylaw 2014, No. 1860, Amendment Bylaw (No. 
31) 2020, No. 2040”.  
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
The purpose of Bylaw 2040 is to allow Cannabis Cultivation and Cannabis Processing uses on 
the subject property, 1148 Rocky Creek Road. Bylaw 2040 has been signed by the Ministry of 
Transportation and Infrastructure (MOTI) and Council is now being asked to consider adoption 
of Bylaw 2040. 
 
PREVIOUS COUNCIL DIRECTION: 
 

Resolution # & 
Meeting Date 

Resolution Details 

CS 2020-161 
June 2, 2020 

That Council proceed with first and second reading of Town of Ladysmith Zoning Bylaw 2014, 
No. 1860, Amendment Bylaw (No. 31) 2020, No. 2040. 
Motion Carried 

CS 2020-132 
June 2, 2020 

That Council waive the requirement for a public hearing for Town of Ladysmith Zoning Bylaw 
2014, No. 1860, Amendment Bylaw (No. 31) 2020, No. 2040 as per Section 467 of the Local 
Government Act. 
Motion Carried 
OPPOSED: Councillors Jacobson and Paterson 
 

CS 2020-204 
July 7, 2020 

That Council: 
1. Proceed with third reading of Town of Ladysmith Zoning Bylaw 2014, No. 1860, 

Amendment Bylaw (No. 31) 2020, No. 2040; and 
2. Direct staff to refer Town of Ladysmith Zoning Bylaw 2014, No. 1860, Amendment 

Bylaw (No. 31) 2020, No. 2040 to the Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure 
pursuant to section 52 of the Transportation Act. 

 
INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND: 
On June 2, 2020 Council gave Bylaw 2040 first and second reading and waived the requirement 
for a public hearing as the proposal is consistent with the Official Community Plan. On July 7, 
2020 Council gave Bylaw 2040 third reading and authorized that it proceed to the Ministry of 
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Transportation and Infrastructure (MOTI) for signature. Bylaw 2040 is now returning to Council 
for adoption as it has been signed by MOTI.  
 
Bylaw 2040 amends the Light Industrial (I-1) zone on a site specific basis to allow Cannabis 
Cultivation and Cannabis Processing within an enclosed building on the subject property, 1148 
Rocky Creek Road. 
 
The applicant is proposing to operate a cannabis cultivation and processing facility within two 
enclosed buildings on the subject property, requiring standard cannabis licenses from Health 
Canada under the Federal Cannabis Act and its regulations. Cannabis uses requiring the 
standard cultivation and processing licenses from Health Canada are not currently permitted in 
the I-1 zone. The I-1 zone currently allows Cannabis Micro-Cultivation and Cannabis Micro-
Processing, requiring micro licenses from Health Canada, as well as Cannabis Research and 
Development.  
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
Council can choose to: 

1. Refer Bylaw 2040 to a future Council meeting. 
2. Refer Bylaw 2040 back to staff for further review, as specified by Council.  
3. Amend Bylaw 2040. 
4. Defeat Bylaw 2040. 

 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 
N/A 
 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: 
Pursuant to section 52 of the Transportation Act, the application was referred to MOTI 
following third reading of Bylaw 2040, as the subject property is located within 800m of a 
controlled access highway. MOTI has approved Bylaw 2040 with no conditions. 
 
CITIZEN/PUBLIC RELATIONS IMPLICATIONS: 
N/A 
 
INTERDEPARTMENTAL INVOLVEMENT/IMPLICATIONS:  
N/A 
  
ALIGNMENT WITH SUSTAINABILITY VISIONING REPORT: 

☐Complete Community Land Use   ☐ Low Impact Transportation 

☐Green Buildings     ☐ Multi-Use Landscapes 

☐Innovative Infrastructure   ☐ Local Food Systems 

☐Healthy Community    ☒ Local, Diverse Economy 

☐ Not Applicable 
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ALIGNMENT WITH STRATEGIC PRIORITIES: 

☐Infrastructure    ☒ Economy 

☐Community    ☐ Not Applicable 

☐Waterfront     
 
 
 
I approve the report and recommendation(s). 
 
Erin Anderson, Acting Chief Administrative Officer 
 

 
ATTACHMENT(S): 
Town of Ladysmith Zoning Bylaw 2014, No. 1860, Amendment Bylaw (No. 31) 2020, No. 2040 
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 TOWN OF LADYSMITH 

 

  BYLAW NO.  2040 

 

WHEREAS pursuant to the Local Government Act, the Municipal Council is empowered to amend 

the Zoning Bylaw; 

 

AND WHEREAS Council considers it advisable to amend "Town of Ladysmith Zoning Bylaw 2014, 

No. 1860"; 

 

NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Town of Ladysmith in open meeting assembled enacts as 

follows: 

 

(1) Schedule A – Zoning Bylaw Text of “Town of Ladysmith Zoning Bylaw 2014, No. 1860" 

is hereby amended as follows: 

 

LIGHT INDUSTRIAL (I-1) 

(a) Section 12.2 (9) is hereby amended as follows: 

i. Add a new subsection (d) to Site Specific Regulations as follows:: 

 “d) For the Parcel legally described as Parcel E (being a consolidation of Lots 

A and B, see CA7024627) District Lot 38 Oyster District PLN EPP36585 

(1148 Rocky Creek Road), Cannabis Cultivation and Cannabis Processing 

are permitted principal uses, subject to being contained entirely within an 

enclosed Building. 

CITATION 

 

(2) This bylaw may be cited for all purposes as "Town of Ladysmith Zoning Bylaw 2014, 

No. 1860, Amendment Bylaw (No.31) 2020, No. 2040” 

 

 

READ A FIRST TIME   on the 2nd  day of  June,  2020 

READ A SECOND TIME   on the 2nd  day of  June, 2020 

PUBLIC HEARING WAIVED pursuant to Section 464(2) of the Local Government Act 

READ A THIRD TIME   on the 7th     day of July, 2020 

APPROVED pursuant to s. 52(3)(a) of the Transportation Act 

     on the 30th day of  July, 2020 

ADOPTED    on the  day of    , 2020 

 

 

 

____________________________________ 

Mayor  (A. Stone) 

 

 

 

_____________________________________ 

Corporate Officer  (D. Smith) 

A bylaw to amend "Town of Ladysmith Zoning Bylaw 2014, No. 1860"  
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STAFF REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 

Report Prepared By:  Infrastructure Services 
Meeting Date: August 18, 2020  
File No:   
RE: Gill Road Lift Station Generator Construction Award 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
That Council award the contract for the Gill Road Lift Station generator to David Stalker 
Excavating Ltd. for $340,861.50 including GST. 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
Staff have tendered the construction of the Gill Road Lift Station generator. Three bids were 
received, with the lowest bid from David Stalker Excavating Limited. 
 
PREVIOUS COUNCIL DIRECTION 
N/A 
 
INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND: 
Staff has completed the design and tendered the Gill Road Lift Station generator. The invitation 
to tender was issued on July 7, 2020, with a closing date of July 31, 2020. This project will allow 
operation of the lift station during power outages. Gill Road is one of three lift stations that 
have been prioritized for generator applications and is the most complicated of the three lift 
stations due to its size and proximity to residential houses. 
 
Three tenders were received as follows: 
 

1. Houle Electric $373,916.68 
2. David Stalker Excavating Ltd $340,861.50 
3. Copcan Civil Ltd $400,799.93 

 
ALTERNATIVES: 
Council can choose to award the tender to one of the other bidders as outlined in the staff 
report. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS; 
This project is being funded from a one-time increase in Gas Tax funding and there is sufficient 
funds in the budget to complete this project as tendered. 
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LEGAL IMPLICATIONS; 
N/A 
 
CITIZEN/PUBLIC RELATIONS IMPLICATIONS: 
N/A 
 
INTERDEPARTMENTAL INVOLVEMENT/IMPLICATIONS:  
N/A 
  
ALIGNMENT WITH SUSTAINABILITY VISIONING REPORT: 

☐Complete Community Land Use   ☐ Low Impact Transportation 

☐Green Buildings     ☐ Multi-Use Landscapes 

☒Innovative Infrastructure   ☐ Local Food Systems 

☐Healthy Community    ☐ Local, Diverse Economy 

☐ Not Applicable 
 
ALIGNMENT WITH STRATEGIC PRIORITIES: 

☒Infrastructure    ☐ Economy 

☐Community    ☐ Not Applicable 

☐Waterfront     
 
 
 
I approve the report and recommendation(s). 
 
Erin Anderson, A/Chief Administrative Officer 
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STAFF REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 

Report Prepared By:  Infrastructure Services 
Meeting Date: August 18, 2020  
File No:   
RE: WATERFRONT AREA WATERMAIN INSTALLATION 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
That Council: 
  

1. Direct staff to construct a new watermain from the French Street watermain terminus 
adjacent to Oyster Bay Drive to the northeast end of the Machine Shop building for an 
estimated cost of $371,000; and 
 

2. Obtain funding for this project from the Water Reserve and that the 2020-2024 Financial 
Plan be amended to reflect this change. 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
Water service for both the Machine Shop and Ladysmith Maritime Society (LMS) is currently 
provided by a 150 cast iron main that was constructed in the early 40’s. The main is now leaking 
and needs to be replaced. The Waterfront Area Plan Servicing Study proposes that this main be 
abandoned and replaced with a main connection from French Street. The cost to do this work 
are estimated at $371,000. 
 
PREVIOUS COUNCIL DIRECTION 
N/A 
 
INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND: 
Water service for both the Machine Shop and LMS is currently provided by a 150 cast iron main 
that is now leaking.  Staff have tried to repair the leak, but due to the pipe’s condition more 
leaks have developed. The pipe has exceeded its functional lifespan and needs replacement. 
 
Replacing this main is complicated as the terminus of the cast iron section is just north of the 
highway requiring works on Island Corridor Foundation lands including a rail crossing. The 
Waterfront Area Plan Servicing Study includes abandoning this main and contemplates a main 
connecting at the terminus of the French Street watermain just north of the highway and 
extending along Oyster Bay Drive to the Machine Shop. The cost to do this work is estimated at 
$371,000.  A detailed plan showing the existing and proposed watermains is attached to this 
report. 
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ALTERNATIVES: 
Council can choose to direct staff to replace the existing 150 diameter cast iron main in place. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS; 
The cost to complete this work is estimated to be $371,000. Staff propose that this project be 
funded from the Water Reserve. As the project was not contemplated in the 2020 Financial 
Plan, an amendment to the Plan is required.  
 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS; 
N/A 
 
CITIZEN/PUBLIC RELATIONS IMPLICATIONS: 
N/A 
 
INTERDEPARTMENTAL INVOLVEMENT/IMPLICATIONS:  
This project will be designed and managed by the Town’s water consultant. The project will be 
tendered and completed during the winter months. 
  
ALIGNMENT WITH SUSTAINABILITY VISIONING REPORT: 

☐Complete Community Land Use   ☐ Low Impact Transportation 

☐Green Buildings     ☐ Multi-Use Landscapes 

☒Innovative Infrastructure   ☐ Local Food Systems 

☐Healthy Community    ☐ Local, Diverse Economy 

☐ Not Applicable 
 
ALIGNMENT WITH STRATEGIC PRIORITIES: 

☒Infrastructure    ☐ Economy 

☐Community    ☐ Not Applicable 

☐Waterfront     
 
 
I approve the report and recommendation(s). 
 
Erin Anderson, Acting Chief Administrative Officer 
 

 
ATTACHMENT: 

 Waterfront Area Plan Phase 2 Watermains – existing and proposed 
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STAFF REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 

Report Prepared By:  Chris Barfoot, Director of Parks, Recreation & Culture 
Meeting Date: August 18, 2020  
File No:   
RE: SWIM CLUB RENTAL RATES – PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO 
PARKS, RECREATION & CULTURE FEES & CHARGES POLICY NO. 05-1810-E 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
That Council direct staff to amend the “Parks, Recreation & Culture Fees and Charges Policy No. 
05-1810-E” as follows:  

1. Remove existing language stating that the subsidy does not apply to specialized facilities 
such as swimming pools; and 

2. Add a Registered non-profit youth swim club 15% subsidy for the FJCC swimming pool.  
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
This report is provided in response to the request from the Ladysmith-Chemainus Swim Club 
(Orcas) Society for a reduction in pool rental rates through the addition of a non-profit youth 
swim club rate within the PRC Fees and Charges Policy No. 05-1810-E for pool time used by the 
Club.  
 
PREVIOUS COUNCIL DIRECTION 

CS 
2020-
181 

06/16/2020 That Council refer the correspondence from the Ladysmith-Chemainus Swim Club 
Society regarding pool rental rates to staff for review and report back to Council. 

CS 
2015-
421 

12/07/2015 That Council: 
1. Approve a reduction of pool rental fees for the Orcas Swim Club at Frank 
Jameson Community Centre to $35.00 per hour from January 1, 2016 to August 31, 
2016, which includes the cost of a single lifeguard. 
2. Direct staff to continue to work with the Orcas Swim Club to develop a plan to 
ensure long term viability of the Club and report back to Council regarding possible 
opportunities. 

CS 
2015-
360 

11/02/2015 That Council direct staff to work with the Ladysmith Chemainus Swim Club to 
develop possible options and recommendations for ways the town can assist the 
Swim Club with its challenging financial situation. 

CS 
2010-
401 

09/07/2010 It was moved, seconded and carried that staff be directed to work with the 
Ladysmith Orca Swim Club to establish a five-year sustainable plan for use of the 
Frank Jameson Community Centre pool, and that the Orcas’ request for a reduction 
in fees be referred to the Parks, Recreation and Culture Commission for 
consideration and recommendation. 

CS 
2010-
240 

05/17/2010 It was moved, seconded and carried that the request from the Orcas Swim Club to 
reduce the hourly rental rate for the pool from $38.46 to $25.64 be referred to staff 
for the preparation of a report outlining options to consider to support the Swim 
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Club. 

 
INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND: 
Council will recall that at its meeting held June 16, 2020 the Ladysmith-Chemainus Swim Club 
made a presentation to Council with a request for a non-profit youth swim club rate to be 
added to the PRC Fees and Charges Policy.  Staff have drafted an amendment to the policy, 
attached as Appendix A.   
 
The current policy states that the regular subsidy (discounts of 50% to non-profit community 
leisure groups) does “not apply to major specialized facilities such as the pools”.  It is this 
wording that requires the Club to periodically negotiate a different rate.  For this reason, staff 
are suggesting that the wording be removed and add a 30% subsidy for the Swim Club to use 
the FJCC pool. 
 
For 2019-20, the standard hourly single pool rental rate is $81.65.  The Club is currently 
receiving a significant discounted rate of $50.42 per hour.  On an annual basis, the Club uses 
approximately 300 hours of pool time with the annual pool rental cost being approximately 
$15,100 (regular rate would be approximately $24,500).  The rationale at the time for this 
discount was based on historical practice and on an understanding that the swim coach would 
have provided the necessary back-up for emergency response.  In order to meet the minimum 
standards of bather-to-lifeguard ratio as outlined in the Public Pool Safety Standards for 
Canadian Swimming Pools, there should be at least 2 lifeguards on duty at FJCC during swims. 
The cost of 2 lifeguards is $73.55 (2020 rate) per hour including benefits. 
 
There are many variables in pool rates from one pool to another, including the challenge with 
Ladysmith’s 4-lane pool.  Fixed costs are consistent with other full pool rentals within the 
region; comparisons are based on an hourly full pool rental.  A per-lane comparison is not 
necessarily used as larger pools can rent a portion of the pool and still remain open for general 
admission.  This is not an option for Ladysmith’s 4-lane pool.  In comparing pool rental costs 
within neighbouring communities, the current costs the Ladysmith-Chemainus Swim Club pays 
are much less than the average.  Appendix B shows an average of the comparison municipalities 
of $88.04 for regional pool youth rates.   
 
Adding the youth non-profit aquatic swim club rate is an effective way to provide non-profit 
youth swim clubs the ability to plan and adjust their membership fees and the ability for the 
Town to monitor and adjust fees accordingly.  This would also be consistent with the Town’s 
field user rates for youth sports non-profit organizations.  However, unlike the sports fields, the 
swimming pool has fixed costs including the requirement of having two lifeguards during these 
booked times and other utility and operation costs.   
 
COVID-19 
Unfortunately, due to COVID-19, the pool will not be open to the public in September. For the 
swim club specifically, there are a number of approvals that must be authorized by other 
agencies and authorities before the Club can utilize the Town’s pool. 
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ALTERNATIVES: 
Council can choose to: 

 Continue to provide the Ladysmith–Chemainus Swim Club with the existing 
arrangement for using the swimming pool at FJCC for 2020-2021. 

 Provide a lesser or greater percentage of subsidy for the use of the swimming pool at 
FJCC than what is recommended.  

 Make no changes to the existing policy and not apply any percentage of subsidy to 
specialized facilities such as swimming pools. 

 Direct staff to increase the hourly charge. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS; 
At present, the Town is subsidizing the Ladysmith-Chemainus Swim Club to a fairly significant 
level.  Any adjustments to the current pool rental rate for non-profit aquatic clubs will impact 
FJCC’s operating budget.  At this point, the existing usage estimates and fees collected are 
included in the 2020 budget for the FJCC swimming pool.   
 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS; 
N/A 
 
CITIZEN/PUBLIC RELATIONS IMPLICATIONS: 
There are a number of examples of reduced rates for user groups at Town facilities.  Major 
specialized facilities such as swimming pools have an established fee structure and rental 
revenues to offset ongoing maintenance of these facilities.   
 
INTERDEPARTMENTAL INVOLVEMENT/IMPLICATIONS:  
N/A 
  
ALIGNMENT WITH SUSTAINABILITY VISIONING REPORT: 

☐Complete Community Land Use   ☐ Low Impact Transportation 

☐Green Buildings     ☐ Multi-Use Landscapes 

☐Innovative Infrastructure   ☐ Local Food Systems 

☒Healthy Community    ☐ Local, Diverse Economy 

☐ Not Applicable 

 
ALIGNMENT WITH STRATEGIC PRIORITIES: 

☐Infrastructure     ☐ Economy 

☐Community     ☒ Not Applicable 

☐Waterfront     
 
 
I approve the report and recommendation(s). 
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Erin Anderson, Acting Chief Administrative Officer 
 
 

ATTACHMENT(S): 

 Appendix A - Fees and Charges Policy PRC 05-1810-E – proposed amendments 

 Appendix B - Regional Comparison for Pool Rental Rates for youth Non-Profit 
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TOWN  OF  LADYSMITH 

POLICIES  AND  PROCEDURE  MANUAL 

TOPIC: FEES & CHARGES – Dept. Parks Recreation & Culture 

APPROVED BY: Council DATE: August 6, 2013 

RESOLUTION  #:  13-267 

(Amended from)  Oct 7, 2002 

Criteria to Use When Considering Grant Requests 

1 (low) through 5 (high) 

 Indirect benefit to residents of the community

i.e. Youth Event. Proactive approach to policing / social services

Event designed to encourage positive behaviour amongst youth.

 Socially worthwhile

i.e. Contributes to sense of community

 Immediate Economic impact within the community

 Long term economic impact / exposure to the community

 Contributes to the quality of life experience for all residents

* Minimum score of 15 to be advanced for resolution.

FEES AND CHARGES POLICY 

The following policy pertains to the Department’s three major service areas of pre-registered 

programs, general admissions and facility rentals.  This policy is consistent with, and derived 

from, the preceding Fees and Charges principles and Leisure Services justification.  It will 

provide the guidelines for the development of the additional policy, which may be necessary to 

address specific and at times, changing community needs, e.g. employee wellness, economically 

disadvantaged, etc. 

Fees and charges policy development, implementation and evaluation is a dynamic process.  

Regular policy review and adjustment will occur to ensure that the policy addresses current 

community needs. Fees and charges will be reviewed annually and any pricing adjustments will 

be effective September1
st
. 

A. PRE-REGISTERED PROGRAMS

Principles:

Fees for programs sponsored directly by the Department will be based on the following

principles:

 The fees will be partially based on recovery of direct cost.

 The fees will encourage maximum public participation and at the same time,

minimize, within reason, the tax subsidy.

APPENDIX A
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 Users will be responsible for financially contributing to their recreation activity. 

 

Direct Cost Recovery: 

Registered programs are to recover the direct costs of the program.  Direct program 

costs include: 

 

 Materials:  Includes all items necessary to ensure the program meets recognized 

standards.  This includes items such as arts and crafts supplies, balls and nets, 

camping equipment, vehicle and equipment rental, tools and parts, stationery and 

printing, program cards and badges, candidate fees, etc. 

 Leadership:  Includes all persons directly involved in the teaching, coaching and 

immediate supervision of a program or activity.  This category refers to all leaders, 

instructors and activity supervisors, whether paid by wage, honorarium (and/or 

contract). 

 Transportation:  Includes vehicle lease, rentals, tolls, fuel and labour costs.   

 Facilities:  Includes admission rates or rentals of non-district recreation facilities. 

 Administrative Surcharge:  A 10% surcharge, (15% for aquatic programs) based 

on the total amount of all other direct program costs, will be included as part of the 

Direct Program Cost.  The surcharge is to compensate for other indirect costs 

associated with the program production, e.g. administration / supervision, facility 

fixed charges, advertising, etc. 

 

Pricing for programs will reflect fees based on staff and material costs and contribute a 

portion to administrative services. 

 

Target margin: 

 

  Dryland Programs  Aquatic Programs 

  Preschool programs – 5% Beginners – 15% 

  Youth programs – 10%  Advanced – 25% 

  Adult programs – 20% 

 

Fees will be determined through a program cost analysis to be reviewed annually. 

 

Factors for Consideration: 

Other factors which may be taken into account when establishing program fees are: 

 

 Program fees charged by other agencies and municipalities for similar services. 

 Grants:  If the Department is successful in obtaining provincial or federal grant 

funding or funding from corporate sponsors, the standard program fees may be 

decreased in order to encourage greater participation, e.g. summer playgrounds, 

community special events, special interest programs, etc. 

 Developmental Programs:  May not initially recover costs but are continued at a 

loss in order to encourage and promote interest.  It is expected however, that over a 

period of time, these programs will break even. 
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 “Loss Leader” or “Service” programs are programs which provide service to 

patrons of other functions within the operation.  These “Loss Leaders” are 

considered necessary for the success of other “profitable” operations within the 

facility, e.g. child minding, free introductory sessions, etc. 

 

B. GENERAL ADMISSION PROGRAMS 

 

The Town of Ladysmith is one of several leisure delivery agencies operating within the 

geographic region of the CVRD.  If one organization is not price consistent with other 

agencies providing comparable service, the demand for their service will vary 

accordingly. 

 

Consistent with the principle outlined in this policy, general admission fees should not 

be so high as to prohibit the participation of the majority of the public, but not so low as 

to ignore the obligation of the user to pay for service and minimize the cost to the 

taxpayer. 

 

In consideration of the above, and within the principles and rationale of the Fees and 

Charges policy, the following General Admission pricing policy will apply.    

User Classifications: 

 

 Adult    19 years of age and older 

 Senior Citizens               60 years of age and older 

             Youth                                          13 years of age to 18 years 

 Child                3 years of age to 12 years 

 Tot                0 to 36 months of age 

 

Family – Parent(s) or guardian(s) with dependent children aged 18 or under.  

*Family rate pays for one or both parents/guardians plus up to four (4) children, 

whether related or not, or all the children in the same family even if there are 

more than four. 

 

General Admission Programs will include but not necessarily be limited to: 

swimming, aerobics and recreational sports.  A base rate for all General 

Admission Programs which will be equal to the adult admission rate and will be 

determined by: 

 

a) a market analysis of comparable services in the CVRD and 

b) consideration of inflationary costs providing the service. 

 

Degree of Subsidy: 

 

The fee structure as a percentage of the base rate for the respective user classification 

will be as follows: 
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 0% Adult   

 25% Seniors     

 50% Children  

 25% Students  

 100% Pre-school  

  Families The rate equal to 2 adults 

 

Free General Admission access to any member of the community who is 80 Years or 

older. 

 

Strip or multiple admission tickets may be available for up to 20% off applicable single 

rates for multiple admissions. 

 

Other passes may be developed where appropriate to facilitate long term use, e.g. three 

to twelve month passes may be available at 24 and 75 times their respective single 

admission rates. 

 

The Director of Parks, Recreation and Culture will have the authority to waive or 

reduce set fees for programs and services not identified in the Fees and Charges 

scheduled to provide for unusual, promotional and /or experimental purposes. 

 

C. FACILITY RENTALS 

 

Principles: 

 

Fees for facilities run by the Department will be consistent with the rationale and 

principles described in this policy and with specific consideration given to: 

 

 CVRD market rate for facility services of same or similar nature. 

 

 Users contribution to the voluntary provision of recreation opportunities for the 

Ladysmith community. 

 

 Users ability to pay. 

 

 The encouragement of responsible and efficient use of facilities. 

 

 Maximize revenue potential to recover maintenance, capital and labour costs and 

minimize financial burden to the taxpayer. 

 

 Ensure fee equity to facilities of same or similar size and quality. 

 

The base rate for all facility rentals will be established and consistent with the rate of 

same or comparable facilities in the CVRD market.  Variations of the base rate in 

consideration of the aforementioned principles will be designated to various categories 
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of use.  The categories are as follows: 

 

User Categories: 

 

1.) Official Town functions and special status groups/events sanctioned by the 

Town of Ladysmith. 

2.) Registered non-profit volunteer groups that use facilities for the provision of 

leisure-oriented activities that are open to all citizens or the neighbourhood 

and/or community. 

3.) Private, educational, religious, labour, government, political and social service 

agencies, social/sports clubs, groups, and/or individuals. 

4.) Commercial / Business 

 

Degree of Subsidy: 

 

Facility subsidy will increase with the degree to which the user group generally 

supports and/or contributes to the Municipality’s mandate of providing public leisure 

services and are as follows (figures shown reflect percentage subsidy of regular rate): 

    

Users Percentage of 

Subsidy 

1 Town 100 

2 Registered non-profit 

volunteer community 

leisure groups/service 

clubs 

50 

3 Private, Religious, 

Political, Government 

0 

4 Registered non-profit 

youth swim club (s) 

15 

5 Commercial/Business (20) 

 

The above subsidies apply to the rental fees only of general purpose program spaces within the 

Department’s Community Recreation Facilities.  Additional direct costs such as materials, 

custodial services, etc., will be borne 100% by the renter.  The subsidies do not apply to major 

specialized facilities such as the pools.  Subsidies for those facilities may be considered on an 

individual basis and in the context of the CVRD market and the principles provided in this 

policy.  Reductions in fees may be made for groups and low priority times to facilitate 

maximum use of facilities in conjunction with other section managers. 

 

Requests for Waiving of Fees: 

 

The Department cannot waive fees but it can work cooperatively with organizations on joint 

programs where there is clear proof of benefit.  All requests for joint initiatives will be 
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addressed to the Director of Parks, Recreation & Culture and forwarded to the Parks and 

Recreation Commission for their consideration. 

 

Council will not waive the fee but will provide a grant to the group to cover all, or a portion of 

the fee. 

 

The following items should be considered in recommending whether Council provides a grant: 

 

a) Parks, Recreation & Culture Department recommendation 

b) grants will be limited to fund raising events 

c)          grants will only be considered for Ladysmith-based non-profit organizations. 

d)       only one grant per organization will be considered in one calendar year  

e)       Criteria rating form. 

 

NOTE*   Volunteer non-profit groups will be provided space at no charge for public service 

functions such as registrations, equipment swaps, etc.  Each group would be limited to three per 

year and provided only on availability of the facility. 
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REGIONAL POOL YOUTH RATE COMPARISON

Region Location # of lanes Cost to rent Cost per lane

Approximate 

Subsidy % Subsidy $ Subsidy per lane Net cost per pool Net cost per lane

Ladysmith FJCC 0% -$         -$    81.65$    20.41$    CURRENT RATE

Ladysmith Current Swim Club 38% 31.23$     7.81$    50.42$    12.60$    CURRENT SWIM CLUB

Ladysmith Proposed Swim Club 15% 12.25$    3.06$   69.40$    17.35$    PROPOSED

North Cowichan Aquatic Centre 8 158.20$    20.35$    25% 39.55$     4.94$    118.65$    15.41$    

RDN Ravensong 6 142.44$    22.74$    33% 47.01$     7.83$    95.43$    15.45$    

Nanaimo Bowen 6 124.16$    20.69$    50% 62.08$     10.35$    62.08$    10.35$    

Port Alberni Youth Rate Echo Pool 6 152.00$    25.33$    50% 76.00$     12.67$    76.00$    12.67$    

Comparison Average 6 144.20$    22.28$    39.5% 56.16$     8.95$    88.04$     13.47$    

4 81.65$    20.41$     

APPENDIX B

Page 143 of 205



  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

TOWN OF LADYSMITH 
 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 144 of 205



  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 145 of 205



  

TOWN OF LADYSMITH 
 

Financial Information Act 
 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 

 
 
 
 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
Audited Financial Statements which provide: 

 Management Report 

 Statement of Assets and Liabilities 

 Operational Statement 

 Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
Schedule of Debt 
 
Schedule of Guarantee and Indemnity Agreements 
 
Schedule of Elected Official Remuneration and Expenses 
 
Schedule of Employee Remuneration and Expenses 
 
Statement of Severance Agreements 
 
Schedule of Payments for Goods and Services 
 
Statement of Financial Information Approval 
 
Council Minutes Approving Financial Information 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 146 of 205



  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 147 of 205



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TOWN OF LADYSMITH 

 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

DECEMBER 31, 2019 

 

AUDITED 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 148 of 205



 

 

 

 

  

Page 149 of 205



INDEX TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DECEMBER 31, 2019 

Management Report 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

Consolidated Financial Statements 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 1 

Consolidated Statement of Operations 2 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 3 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets 4 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 5-31

Schedules 

I Statement of Operations by Segment – 2018 & 2019 32-33

II Consolidated Statement of Tangible Capital Assets – 2018 & 2019 34-35

Page 150 of 205



STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY 

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements are the responsibility of the management of the 

Town of Ladysmith and have been prepared in compliance with legislation, and in accordance with 

Canadian Public Sector Accounting standards.   

In carrying out its responsibilities, management maintains appropriate systems of internal and 

administrative controls designed to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are executed in 

accordance with proper authorization, that assets are properly accounted for and safeguarded, and that 

financial information produced is relevant and reliable. 

MNP LLP as the Municipality's appointed external auditors, have audited the Consolidated Financial 

Statements.  The Auditor's report is addressed to the Mayor and members of Council and appears on 

the following page.  Their opinion is based upon an examination conducted in accordance with Canadian 

Auditing Standards, performing such tests and other procedures as they consider necessary to obtain 

reasonable assurance that the Consolidated Financial Statements are free of material misstatement 

and present fairly the financial position and results of the Municipality in accordance with Canadian 

Public Sector Accounting Standards. 

___________________________ 

Guillermo Ferrero 

Chief Administration Officer 
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Mayor and Council of the Town of Ladysmith: 

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the Town of Ladysmith (the "Town"), which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2019, and the consolidated statements of operations, changes in net financial assets
and cash flows and related schedules for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of the Town as at December 31, 2019, and the results of its operations and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Town in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the annual report, which is expected to be made
available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above
when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the
matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Town’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Town or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Town’s financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing
standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

Suite 400 MNP Place, 345 Wallace Street, Nanaimo, British Columbia, V9R 5B6, Phone: (250) 753-8251
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As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one

resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal

control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the

Town’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention

in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,

to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However,

future events or conditions may cause the Town to cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and

whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the

Town to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and

performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Nanaimo, British Columbia

May 5, 2020 Chartered Professional Accountants
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See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 
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TOWN OF LADYSMITH 
 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2019 

2019 2018

Financial As s ets

Cas h and s hort-term depos its (Note 2) 24,653,055$  22,025,702$  

Accounts  receivable (Note 4) 5,653,020 4,435,613 

30,306,075         26,461,315         

Liabilities

Accounts  payable and accrued liabilities (Note 5) 3,560,551 3,372,143 

Pos t-employment benefits (Note 6) 262,400 232,400 

Deferred revenue (Note 7) 611,478 563,199 

Refundable depos its  and other (Note 8) 819,767 878,031 

Res tricted res erves (Note 9) 474,480 442,190 

Development cos t charge res erve (Note 10) 3,714,388 3,163,671 

Federal gas  tax res erve (Note 11) 1,474,035 1,506,769 

E quipment financing (Note 12) 915,645 986,306 

S hort-term financing (Note 13) 952,700 952,700 

Debenture debt (Note 14) 16,962,428         11,598,532         

29,747,872         23,695,941         

Net  Financial As s ets 558,203 2,765,374 

Non-Financial As s ets

Tangible Capital As s ets (S chedule II) 110,605,787       97,692,141         

Prepaids 95,485 89,387 

Inventory 64,550 74,232 

110,765,822       97,855,760         

Accumulated S urplus (Note 19) 111,324,025$  100,621,134$  

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 15)

Subsequent Events (Note 28)

________________________

Director of Financial Services
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TOWN OF LADYSMITH 

 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS 

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2019 

 

 

 
 

  

Budget

2019 2019 2018

(Note 20)

Revenue

Taxation (Note 22) 11,600,354$    11,597,913$    10,691,844$    

Sale of Services (Note 23) 3,976,114         3,981,458         3,731,971         

Investment Income 528,984             155,000             263,939             

Licence, Permits, Rentals & Penalties (Note 24) 1,018,152         773,807             965,424             

Grants (Note 25) 6,842,495         21,185,687       3,658,040         

Donations and contributed tangible capital assets 2,114,949         2,168,500         348,214             

Loss on foreign exchange (15,931)              -                            (51,120)              

Gain (loss) on disposal of tangible capital assets (104,904)            10,000                (1,205)                 

Development fees 77,000                982,750             43,000                

Gas tax funds utilized (Note 11) 893,245             1,422,054         398,071             

26,930,458       42,277,169       20,048,178       

Expenses

General government services 2,780,011         2,971,091         2,698,993         

Protective services 1,443,022         2,124,537         1,742,911         

Transportation services 2,250,325         2,392,845         2,338,580         

Garbage services 527,606             525,121             511,805             

Cemetery services 29,068                30,033                28,609                

Development services 573,622             732,906             578,671             

Recreation and cultural services 2,897,536         3,068,405         2,887,980         

Parks operation services 1,093,968         1,043,464         930,872             

Sewer 2,854,002         3,574,857         2,787,753         

Water 1,778,406         2,091,788         1,360,108         

16,227,567       18,555,047       15,866,282       

Annual Surplus 10,702,891       23,722,122       4,181,896         

Accumulated Surplus, beginning of year 100,621,134    100,621,134    96,439,238       

Accumulated Surplus - end of year 111,324,025$ 124,343,256$ 100,621,134$ 
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TOWN OF LADYSMITH 

 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2019 

 

 

   

2019 2018

Operating Trans actions

Annual S urplus 10,702,891$      4,181,896$        

Les s  non-cas h items  included in s urplus :

Amortization 3,489,917          3,336,032          

Los s  on dis pos al of tangible capital as s ets 104,904             1,205                

Actuarial adjus tments  on debenture debt (46,059)             (40,824)             

Contributed tangible capital as s ets (1,949,543)         (269,830)            

12,302,110        7,208,479          

Change in

Accounts  receivable (1,217,407)         (1,551,415)         

Prepaid expens es (6,098)               (17,934)             

Inventory 9,682                (7,842)               

Accounts  payable and accrued liabilities 188,408             984,727             

Pos t employment benefits 30,000              (1,700)               

Deferred revenues 48,279              25,668              

Refundable depos its  and other (58,264)             317,044             

Res tricted res erves 32,290              7,334                

Development cos t charge res erve 550,717             490,827             

Gas  tax res erve (32,734)             25,258              

Cas h provided by operating trans actions 11,846,983        7,480,446          

Capital Trans actions

Proceeds  on s ale of tangible capital as s ets 50,552              -                       

Cas h us ed to acquire tangible capital as s ets (14,609,476)       (6,884,740)         

Cas h us ed by capital trans actions (14,558,924)       (6,884,740)         

Financing Trans actions

Proceeds  of long-term financing 6,000,000          952,700             

Proceeds  of equipment loans -                    626,869             

Repayment of debt (660,706)            (590,045)            

Net Increas e in cas h from financing 5,339,294          989,524             

Increas e in Cas h and S hort-Term Depos its 2,627,353          1,585,230          

Cas h and S hort-Term Depos its  - Beginning of Year 22,025,702        20,440,472        

Cas h and S hort-Term Depos its  - E nd of Year 24,653,055$      22,025,702$      
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TOWN OF LADYSMITH 

 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS 

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2019 

 

 

 

Budget

2019 2019 2018

(Note 20)

Annual S urplus  10,702,891$    23,722,122$    4,181,896$        

Acquis ition of tangible capital as s ets (16,559,019)    (42,358,680)     (7,154,570)         

Amortization of tangible capital as s ets 3,489,917       3,436,284        3,336,032          

Los s  (gain) on s ale of tangible capital as s ets 104,904          - 1,205                

Proceeds  from s ale of tangible capital as s ets 50,552            - -                       

Decreas e (Increas e) in inventories 9,682             - (7,842)               

Decreas e (Increas e) in prepaids (6,098)            - (17,934)             

Change in Net Financial As s ets (2,207,171)      (15,200,274)     338,787             

Net Financial As s ets ,  beginning of year 2,765,374 2,426,587

Net Financial As s ets ,  end of year 558,203$        2,765,374$        
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The Town of Ladysmith (the Town) was incorporated in 1904 under the provisions of the British 

Columbia Municipal Act. Its principal activities are the provision of local government services in the 

Town, as governed by the Community Charter and the Local Government Act. 

 

Note 1 - Significant Accounting Policies 

 

The notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these financial 

statements.  They provide detailed information and explain the significant accounting and 

reporting policies and principles that form the basis of these statements.  They also provide 

relevant supplementary information and explanations which cannot be expressed in the 

consolidated financial statements. 

 

(a)   Basis of Presentation 

 

It is the Town’s policy to follow Canadian public sector accounting standards for local 

governments and to apply such principles consistently. The financial resources and operations 

of the Town have been consolidated for financial statement purposes and include the accounts 

of all of the funds of the Town. 

 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.  The 

accrual basis of accounting records revenue as it is earned and measurable.  Expenses are 

recognized as they are incurred and measurable based upon the receipt of goods and services 

or the creation of an obligation to pay. 

 

The consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and 

changes in fund balances and financial position of the Town.  These consolidated financial 

statements consolidate the following operations: 

 

General Revenue Fund    General Capital Fund 

Water Revenue Fund    Water Capital Fund 

Sewer Revenue Fund    Sewer Capital Fund 

Reserve Fund 

 

(b) Reporting Entity 

 

The consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of 

the reporting entity.  The reporting entity is comprised of all the funds, agencies, local boards, 

and committees of the Council which are controlled by the Town.  Control is defined as the 

power to govern the financial and reporting policies of another organization with the
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Note 1 - Significant Accounting Policies - (b)   Reporting Entity (continued) 

 

expected benefits or risk of loss to the Town.  The controlled organizations are consolidated 

after adjusting their accounting policies to a basis consistent with the accounting policies of 

the Town.  Interfund and intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.  The 

controlled organizations include DL 2016 Holdings Corporation, a wholly owned subsidiary of 

the Town. 

 

(c) Tangible Capital Assets 

 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization and are classified 

according to their functional use.  Cost includes all amounts that are directly attributable to 

the acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset.  Donated assets are 

recorded at their estimated fair value upon acquisition.  Certain tangible capital assets for 

which historical cost information is not available have been recorded at current fair market 

values discounted by a relevant inflation factor.  Certain assets are disclosed at a nominal value 

as the determination of current fair market value was not available.  The Town does not 

capitalize interest charges as part of the cost of its tangible capital assets. 

 

Tangible capital assets are amortized over their estimated useful life on the straight-line 

method at the following annual rates: 

 

General Tangible Capital Assets 

 Land Indefinite 

 Land Improvements 15 to 75 years 

 Buildings 25 to 40 years 

 Equipment, Furniture and Vehicles 5 to 60 years 

 

Engineering Structures 

 Roads and Sidewalks 20 to 75 years 

 Storm and Sewer 25 to 75 years 

 Water 20 to 80 years 

 

Constructions in progress contain capital projects underway but not yet complete or put into 

use.  Once put into use, the asset will be amortized based on the above annual rates for the 

applicable category of work performed. 

 

Certain assets have historical or cultural value including works of art, historical documents as 

well as historical and cultural artifacts that are not recognized as tangible capital assets 
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Note 1 - Significant Accounting Policies – (c)   Tangible Capital Assets (continued) 
 

because a reasonable estimate of the future benefits associated with such property cannot be 

made.  Intangibles, Crown lands and other natural resources are not recognized as tangible 

capital assets. 

 

(d) Cash and Short-Term Deposits 

 

Cash and short-term deposits have maturities of three months or less from the date of 

acquisition, reported in Canadian funds using the exchange rate of the prescribed bank as of 

December 31. 

 

(e) Restricted Reserves and Deferred Revenues 

 

Receipts which are restricted by the legislation of senior governments or by agreement with 

external parties are deferred and reported as restricted reserves.  When qualifying expenses 

are incurred, restricted reserves are brought into revenue at equal amounts, in accordance 

with Revenue Recognition policy 1(i).  These revenues are comprised of the amounts shown in 

Note 9, 10, and 11. 

 

Revenues received from non-government sources in advance of expenses which will be 

incurred in a later period are deferred until the associated purchase or expense is incurred. 

 

(f) Use of Estimates 

 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting 

standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 

amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date 

of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expense during the 

reporting period.  Significant areas requiring the use of management estimates relate to the 

collectability of accounts receivable, accrued liabilities, post-employment benefits, provisions 

for contingencies and amortization rates, useful lives and salvage values for determining 

tangible capital asset values.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.  Liabilities for 

contaminated sites are estimated based on the best information available regarding 

potentially contaminated sites that the Town is responsible for.  Adjustments, if any, will be 

reflected in operations in the period of settlement. 
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Note 1 - Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 

(g) Revenue Recognition 

 

Taxation revenues are recognized at the time of issuing the property tax notices for the fiscal 

year. Fees and charges revenue are recognized when the services are rendered. Investment 

income is accrued as earned. Gain (loss) on foreign exchange has been recognized in the 

Statement of Operations using the exchange rate in effect on December 31, 2019.   

 

Other revenues are recognized when earned in accordance with the terms of the agreement, 

when the amounts are measurable and when collection is reasonably assured. 

 

The Town recognizes a government transfer as revenue when the transfer is authorized and 

all eligibility criteria, if any, have been met.  Grants and donations are recognized in the 

financial statements in the period which the events giving rise to the transfer occur, eligibility 

criteria are met, and reasonable estimates of the amount can be made.  A government transfer 

with stipulations giving rise to an obligation that meets the definition of a liability is recognized 

as a liability (deferred revenue).  In such circumstances, the Town recognizes the revenue as 

the liability is settled. 

 

Deferred revenue represents user charges and other fees which have been collected, for which 

the related services have yet to be provided.  These amounts will be recognized as revenue in 

the fiscal year the services are provided. 

 
 

(h) Non-financial Assets 

 

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in the 

provision of services.  They have useful lives extending beyond the current year and are not 

intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations.  The change in non-financial assets 

during the year, together with the excess of revenues over expenses, provides the change in 

net financial assets for the year. 

 

 (i) Inventory 

 

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value, determined on an average cost 

basis. 
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Note 1 - Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  
 

(j)    Liability for contaminated sites 
 

A liability for remediation of a contaminated site is recognized at the best estimate of the 

amount required to remediate the contaminated site when contamination exceeding an 

environmental standard exists, the Town of Ladysmith is either directly responsible or accepts 

responsibility, it is expected that future economic benefits will be given up, and a reasonable 

estimate of the amount is determinable.  The best estimate of the liability includes all costs 

directly attributable to remediation activities and is reduced by expected net recoveries based 

on information available at December 31, 2019. 

 

Included in tangible capital assets are specific properties that have been determined to be 

contaminated in excess of Provincial environmental standards and that require remediation 

activities.  As the Town has not accepted responsibility for the contamination, no liability has 

been recorded for the estimated remediation costs.  Future events may confirm the Town’s 

responsibility, at which point a liability would be recorded.  Any remediation activities that 

occur prior to the determination of responsibility will be expensed as incurred. 
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Note 2 - Cash and Short-Term Deposits 

  

 Cash and short-term deposits were comprised as follows: 

 

   
 

Included in Cash is a deposit of $191,088 (the equivalent of $149,377 US Funds based on the 

exchange rate at the Ladysmith and District Credit Union on December 31, 2019). Short-term 

deposits consist of short-term investments in the Municipal Finance Authority of B.C. money 

market fund.  The market value is equal to the carrying value.   

 

Included in cash and short-term deposits are the following restricted amounts that are 

expended in accordance with the terms of the restricted reserves. 

 

      

 
 

Note 3 – Financial Instruments 
 

The Town as part of its operations carries a number of financial instruments.  It is management’s 

opinion the Town is not exposed to significant interest, currency or credit risk arising from these 

financial instruments, except as otherwise disclosed.  The Town is exposed to currency risk on its 

US dollar bank account.  Unless otherwise noted in Note 2, the fair value of these financial 

instruments approximates their carrying values. 

  

2019 2018

Cash 23,845,187$      21,232,595$      

Short-term deposits 807,868                 793,107                 

24,653,055$      22,025,702$      

2019 2018

Res tricted res erves 474,480$          442,190$          

Federal gas  tax res erve 1,474,035         1,506,769         

Development cos t charges  res erve 3,714,388         3,163,671         

Total res tricted cas h 5,662,903$       5,112,630$       
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Note 4 - Accounts Receivable 

 
 

 

Note 5 - Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities  

 

 

             

2019 2018

Property taxes 852,318$              911,481$              

Other government 3,807,963            2,705,974            

User fees and other 981,267                 808,059                 

Developer receivables 5,139                        5,139                        

Employee receivables 6,333                        4,960                        

5,653,020$         4,435,613$         

2019 2018

General 1,462,671$         2,583,733$         

Other governments 204,763                  11,362                     

Salaries and wages 273,802                 261,128                 

Contractor holdbacks 1,507,649            438,108                 

Accrued interest 111,666                 77,813                    

3,560,551$         3,372,143$         
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Note 6 - Post-Employment Benefits 
 

The Town provides compensated absences to its employees to a maximum of 120 days.  The 

Town also allows employees to defer unused vacation without any maximum.  Any deferred 

vacation time remaining at retirement or termination is paid out at that time.  The amount 

recorded for these benefits is based on an actuarial evaluation done by an independent firm 

using a projected benefit actuarial valuation method prorated on services. The last actuarial 

valuation was calculated at August 31, 2017 and has been extrapolated to December 31, 2019. 

The change in the liability in the financial statements in respect of obligations under the plan 

amounts to $30,000 ($1,700 - 2018). 

 

 The accrued post-employment benefits are as follows:              

  
 

 The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the Town’s post-employment 

benefits are   as follows:  

 

 
 

 

  

2019 2018

Balance, beginning of year 232,400$          234,100$          

Current service costs 29,600                29,000                

Benefits paid (17,600)               (26,900)               

Actuarial gain 18,000                (3,800)                  

Past service credit -                             -                             

Balance, end of year 262,400$          232,400$          

2019 2018

Discount Rate 2.70% 3.30%

Expected Inflation Rate and Wage & Salary Increases 2.50% 2.50%
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Note 7 - Deferred Revenue 

 

         
 

 

 

Note 8 - Refundable Deposits and Other 

 

         
 

  

2019 2018

Licence fees & charges 21,401$                 17,832$                 

Rental payments 12,441                    12,441                    

Property tax prepayments 441,645                 417,460                 

Subdivisions prepayments 80,515                    71,515                    

Recreation prepayments 30,169                    27,512                    

Utilities prepayments 14,125                    12,357                    

Other 11,182                    4,082                        

611,478$              563,199$              

2019 2018

Developer performance deposits 373,978$              475,996$              

Damage deposits 279,000                 233,450                 

Other 166,789                 168,585                 

819,767$              878,031$              
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Note 9 - Restricted Reserves  

 

There are two reserves, LRC Capital and B&G Capital for the replacement of specific building 

components located at 630 2nd Avenue and 220 High Street.  

 

 
 

  

Note 10 - Development Cost Charges Reserve 

 

Restricted reserves include Development Cost Charges (DCC’s) which are charged to 

developers and utilized for infrastructure development.  

 

 
Developers may be entitled to DCC credits in certain circumstances.  There were no DCC credits in 
2019 ($15,000 – 2018). 
  

Description

 Balance

 Dec. 31, 2018  Interest  Contributions  Expenditures 

 Balance

 Dec. 31, 2019 

Parking 74,979$                 2,251$                    30,000$                 -$                              107,230$            

Green Streets 1,480                       38                             -                                 -                                 1,518                    

Amphitheatre 19,255                    307                          300                          (10,000)                   9,862                    

B&G - Capital 43,930                    1,178                       5,064                       -                                 50,173                  

LRCA/Seniors - 

Capital
302,546                 1,425                       2,480                       (755)                         305,697               

     TOTAL 442,190$               5,200$                    37,844$                 (10,755)$                474,480$            

Description

 Balance

 Dec. 31, 2018  Interest  Contributions  Expenditures 

 Balance

 Dec. 31, 2019 

DCC - Water 693,763$               18,447$                 128,599$               -$                              840,809$            

DCC - Parks 719,041                 18,824                    123,950                 -                                 861,816               

DCC - Roads 775,834                 20,060                    121,222                 (67,000)                   850,116               

DCC - Sewer 589,375                 15,986                    150,521                 -                                 755,882               

DCC - Storm 385,658                 9,890                       10,216                    -                                 405,765               

     TOTAL 3,163,671$           83,208$                 534,508$               (67,000)$                3,714,388$         
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Note 11 - Federal Gas Tax Reserve 

 

Gas Tax funding is provided by the Government of Canada.  The use of the funding is established by 

a funding agreement between the Town and the Union of British Columbia Municipalities.  Gas Tax 

funding may be used towards designated public transit, community energy, water, wastewater, solid 

waste and capacity building projects, as specified in the funding agreements.  A one-time payment 

of $405,121 was received in 2019. The funds are recorded on the consolidated financial statements 

as a restricted reserve. 

 

 

 
 

 

Note 12 - Obligations under Equipment Financing 

 

The total equipment financing outstanding with the Municipal Finance Authority of British 

Columbia as at December 31, 2019 was $915,645 ($986,306 - 2018).    

 

The Town has entered into equipment loans for the following purchases: 

 

1) A five year equipment loan agreement with the Municipal Finance Authority of British Columbia 

which commenced May 2017 for the purchase of a 2012 Spartan fire truck.  This was formerly a 

capital lease.  The remaining obligation will be repaid with monthly loan payments in the amount 

of $3,291 including interest at a daily varying rate (December 31, 2019 was 2.53875).  The 

balance of the loan at December 31, 2019, which is included in equipment financing, is $254,960 

($287,634 - 2018).  Loan to expire May 2022.  

2019 2018

Opening balance of unspent funds 1,506,769$         1,481,511$         

Add: Amounts received during the year 819,763                 405,121                 

         Interest earned 40,747                    18,208                    

Less: Gas tax funds utilized (893,245)                (398,071)                

Closing balance of unspent funds 1,474,035$         1,506,769$         
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Note 12 - Obligations under Equipment Financing (continued) 

 

2) A five year equipment loan agreement with the Municipal Finance Authority of British Columbia 

which commenced September 2018 for the purchase of a 2018 Spartan fire truck.  The 

remaining obligation will be repaid with monthly loan payments in the amount of $2,835 

including interest at a daily varying rate (December 31, 2019 was 2.53875).  The balance of the 

loan at December 31, 2019, which is included in equipment financing, is $660,685 ($677,945 – 

2018).  Loan to expire September 2023. 

 

There are two equipment loans payable to the Municipal Finance Authority.  The future minimum     

loan payments under the equipment loan obligation are as follows: 

 
 

 
 

Interest in the consolidated statement of operations is calculated as $23,829 ($12,208 - 2018).  

 

 The total equipment financing issued and outstanding with the MFA as at December 31, 2019 was 

$915,645 ($986,306 as at December 31, 2018).   This balance is made up of: 

 

                          

       

2020 50,442$     

2021 51,824        

2022 32,616        

2023 186,867     

2024 593,896     

Balance Principal Balance 

Dec 31, 2018 Payments Dec 31, 2019 Interest

Spartan Fire Truck 16,505$           16,505$           -$                  224$                      

Spartan Fire Truck 287,634           32,674              254,960           6,822                      

Fitness Equip - FJCC 4,222                 4,222                 -                     28                            

Pumper Truck 677,945           17,260              660,685           16,755                   

986,306$        70,661$           915,645$        23,829$                
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Note 13 – Short-term Financing 
 

The total short-term financing outstanding with the Municipal Finance Authority of British 

Columbia as at December 31, 2019 was $952,700 ($952,700 – 2018).  The Town entered into a 

short- term financing agreement which commenced September 2018 to borrow up to $1,000,000 

to purchase 1260 Churchill Place.  As of December 31, 2019 $952,700 in short-term financing was 

executed.  Interest is charged at a daily varying rate.  The full amount borrowed must be repaid by 

2023. 
 

 Short-term interest in the consolidated statement of operations is calculated at $23,824 ($5,912 

– 2018). 
 

 
Note 14 - Debenture Debt 
 

The Town of Ladysmith secures its long-term borrowing through the Municipal Finance Authority 

of BC (MFA).  As a condition of each borrowing, a portion of the debenture proceeds is retained by 

the MFA as a debt reserve fund.  As at December 31, 2019, the cash balance of the Town’s debt 

reserve funds was $ 223,515 ($158,762 – 2018).  Debt reserve funds are not recorded elsewhere 

in the financial statements. 
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The total long-term debt issued and outstanding with the MFA as at December 31, 2019 was 

$16,962,428 ($11,598,532 as at December 31, 2018).   This balance is made up of: 

 
 

 

The following principal payments are payable over the next five years:  

 

 
 

Debt interest, net of actuarial adjustment included in the consolidated statement of operations, is 

calculated at $339,425 ($223,759 – 2018). 

 

General Capital Fund

RCMP Building 2,750,000$   1,757,803$  105,721$      1,652,082$  48,125$        (39,688)$        1.75%

Issue #97

Term 2006-2031

Water Capital Fund

Water Improvements 1,000,000      840,729        30,383           810,346        34,000           (6,371)             3.40%

Issue #118

Term 2012-2037

Water Filtration Plant 6,000,000      -                  -                  6,000,000     79,800           -                        2.66%

Issue #147

Term 2019-2044

Sewer Capital Fund

Sewer Treatment Plant 10,000,000   9,000,000     500,000        8,500,000     173,823        -                  1.88%

Issue #138

Term 2016-2036

 $ 19,750,000  $11,598,532  $      636,104  $16,962,428  $      335,748 (46,059)$        

Original

Amount

Interest 

Rate

Balance

 Dec 31, 2018

Principal 

Payments 

Balance

 Dec 31, 2019

Actuarial 

AdjustmentInterest

Total

 Principal 

Repayment 

 Actuarial 

Sinking Fund 

Earnings 

 Principal 

Repayment 

 Actuarial 

Sinking Fund 

Earnings 

 Principal 

Repayment 

 Actuarial 

Sinking Fund 

Earnings  Net 

2020 66,033$                          43,917 188,579$         7,586               500,000$     -                     806,115$       

2021              66,033                   48,315 188,579            13,787           500,000        -                     816,714           

2022              66,033                   52,889 188,579            20,187           500,000        -                     827,687           

2023              66,033                   57,645 188,579            26,791           500,000        -                     839,049           

2024              66,033 62,593                188,579            33,608           500,000        -                     850,813           

Thereafter           462,230               594,328 3,603,500        2,161,991   6,000,000   -                     12,822,049   

 General Water Sewer
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Note 15 - Commitments and Contingencies  
 

(a) Contingent Liabilities  

 

i) The Town, as a member of the Cowichan Valley Regional District, is jointly and severally 

liable for operational deficits or long term debt related to functions in which it participates. 

 

ii) The loan agreements with the Municipal Finance Authority provide that if the Authority 

does not have sufficient funds to meet payments on its obligations it shall make payments 

from the Debt Reserve Fund which in turn is established by a similar Debt Reserve Fund in 

the Town and all other borrowing participants.  If the Debt Reserve Fund is deficient the 

Authority's obligations become a liability of the regional district and may become a liability 

of the participating municipalities. 

 

iii) There were various claims made against the Town as at December 31, 2019 for incidents 

that arose in the ordinary course of operations.  In the opinion of management and legal 

counsel, the outcomes of the lawsuits, now pending, are not determinable.  As the 

outcomes are not determinable at this time, no amount has been accrued in the financial 

statements.  Should any loss result from the resolution of these claims, such loss will be 

charged to operations in the year of resolution. 

 

(b) Pension Liability 
 

The Town and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (a jointly trusteed 

pension plan).  The board of trustees, representing plan members and employers, is 

responsible for administering the plan, including investment of assets and administration 

of benefits.  The plan is a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan.  Basic pension 

benefits are based on a formula.  As at December 31, 2018, the Plan has about 205,000 

active members and approximately 101,000 retired members.  Active members include 

approximately 40,000 contributors from local governments. 
 

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the 

plan and adequacy of plan funding.  The actuary determines an appropriate combined 

employer and member contribution rate to fund the plan.  The actuary’s calculated 

contribution rate is based on the entry-age normal cost method, which produces the long-

term rate of member and employer contributions sufficient to provide benefits for average 

future entrants to the plan.  This rate may be adjusted for the amortization of any actuarial 

funding surplus and will be adjusted for the amortization of any unfunded actuarial liability. 
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Note 15 - Commitments and Contingencies – (b)   Pension Liability (continued) 

 

The most recent valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as of December 31, 2018, 

indicated a $2.866 billion funding surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern 

basis.   

 

The Town of Ladysmith paid $483,383 (2018 - $464,390) for employer contributions to 

the Plan in fiscal 2019. 

 

The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2021, with results available in 2022. 

 

Employers participating in the plan record their pension expense as the amount of 

employer contributions made during the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan 

accounting).  This is because the plan records accrued liabilities and accrued assets for the 

plan in aggregate, resulting in no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, 

assets and cost to individual employers participating in the plan. 

 

 

(c) Reciprocal Insurance Exchange Agreement 

 

The Town is a subscribed member of the Municipal Insurance Association of British 

Columbia (The "Exchange") as provided by Section 3.02 of the Insurance Act of the 

Province of British Columbia.  The main purpose of the Exchange is to pool the risks of 

liability so as to lessen the impact upon any subscriber.  Under the Reciprocal Insurance 

Exchange Agreement the Town is assessed a premium and specific deductible for its claims 

based on population.  The obligation of the Town with respect to the Exchange and/or 

contracts and obligations entered into by the Exchange on behalf of its subscribers in 

connection with the Exchange are in every case several, and not joint and several.  The 

Town irrevocably and unconditionally undertakes and agrees to indemnify and save 

harmless the other subscribers against liability losses and costs which the other subscriber 

may suffer. 
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Note 15 - Commitments and Contingencies (continued) 

 

(d)  Service Agreements & Rental Payments 
 

Rental payments under operating leases are expensed as incurred. 
 

 
 

In 2017, the Town entered into a 5-year Service Agreement with the Ladysmith & District 

Historical Society (LDHS) for the occupancy, operation and management of the museum and 

archives.  The Town provided a one-time additional payment of $18,100 in 2019.  The future 

payments are expected to be $28,038 – 2020, $28,537 – 2021, and $29,046 – 2022. 

 

 Also in 2017, the Town entered into a 5-year Service Agreement with the Ladysmith 

Resources Centre Association (LRCA).  The future payments are expected to be $42,978 – 

2020, and $43,838 – 2021.   

 

The Town provides the Ladysmith Chamber of Commerce & Visitor Centre annual funding to 

operate the visitor centre and provide support services for local businesses.  The agreement is 

year-to-year. 
 

 
The Town entered into a 3-year lease with Ivory Tower Investments Ltd for the use of office 

space at 132c Roberts Street.  The future monthly payments are $2,388 for 2020, 2021 and 

2022. 

 

In 2017, the Town entered into a 3-year lease agreement with Paul Jorjorian for the rental of 

the 17 & 25 Roberts Street Parking Lot.  The future monthly payment is $725 for 2020. 

Service Agreements

2019 2018

Ladysmith & District Historical Society 42,550$             23,970$             

Ladysmith Resources Centre Association 42,137                41,310                

Ladysmith Chamber of Commerce & Visitor Centre 43,400                43,400                

128,087$          108,680$          

Rental Payments

2019 2018

132c Roberts Street - office space 27,998$             27,796$             

17 & 25 Roberts Street - parking lot 8,400                  8,100                  

36,398$             35,896$             
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Note 16 - Significant Taxpayers 
 

The Town is reliant upon 10 taxpayers for approximately 12.88% (13.52% - 2018) of the total 

property tax revenue which includes Western Forest Products at approximately 6.72% (6.78% 

- 2018) of the total property tax revenue. 

 

 

Note 17 - Funds Held in Trust 

  

These funds account for assets which must be administered as directed by agreement or 

statute for certain beneficiaries; in particular, these funds are for the Cemetery Trust Fund.  In 

accordance with PSAB recommendations on financial statement presentation, trust funds are 

not included in the Town's Financial Statements.  A summary of trust fund activities by the 

Town is as follows: 

 

 
 

Note 18 - Comparative Figures 

 

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year's 

presentation. 

  

2019 2018

Assets

Cash and short term investment 161,557$              159,737$        

Equity

Opening balance 159,737$              155,937$        

Interest 4,065                        2,461                  

Transfer interest to fund cemetery costs (4,065)                       (2,461)                 

Contributions 1,820                        4,130                  

Refunds -                                     (330)                     

Balance, end of year 161,557$              159,737$        
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Note 19 - Accumulated Surplus 

 

The Town segregates its accumulated surplus in the following categories: 

 

 

  
                  

  

2019 2018

Unappropriated equity 4,110,986$          5,346,507$          

Appropriated equity (Note 26) 13,151,741         8,980,174            

17,262,727         14,326,682         

Capital Funds

General capital fund 233,910                 182,120                 

Sewer capital fund 14,942                    14,942                    

Water capital fund 446,073                 14,073                    

694,925                 211,135                 

Reserve Funds

Reserve funds (Note 26) 1,591,351             1,928,713             

Equity in Tangible Capital Assets 91,775,023          84,154,605          

Total Accumulated Surplus 111,324,025$  100,621,134$  
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Note 20 - Annual Budget 

 

Fiscal plan amounts represent the Financial Plan Bylaw adopted by Council on May 13th, 2019. 

 

The Financial Plan anticipated the use of surpluses accumulated in previous years to balance 

against current year expenses in excess of current year revenues.  In addition, the Financial Plan 

anticipated capital expenses rather than amortization expense. 

 

The following shows how these amounts were combined: 

 

 
 

Note 21 - DL 2016 Holdings Corporation (“DL 2016”) 
 

The Town of Ladysmith has an investment in DL 2016 Holdings Corporation, a wholly owned 

subsidiary company of the Town.   

 

The Town of Ladysmith leases portions of its waterfront from the Province of British Columbia 

parts of which are subleased to DL 2016 for use as a marina. 

 

DL 2016 has entered into operation and maintenance agreement and a license agreement with 

the Ladysmith Maritime Society (LMS) for the operation and management of the lease area.  A 

portion of the moorage revenues from LMS are owed to DL 2016. 

 

Pursuant to these agreements DL 2016 could provide security for debt financing in order for 

LMS to implement capital improvements to the lease area.   

 

 
 

Financial Plan Balance for the year -$                                    

Add back:

Amortization (3,436,284)             

Proceeds from new debt (8,911,952)             

Transfers to/from own funds (7,112,509)             

Less:

Principal payments on debt 824,187                    

Capital expenditures per budget 42,518,786            

Capital Expenditures expensed according to Tangible Capital Asset Policy (160,106)                  

Adjusted Annual Surplus 23,722,122$        
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Note 22 – Taxation 
 
Taxation revenue comprises the following amounts less transfer to other governments: 
 
 

  
  

Actuals Actuals

2019 2018

Taxes Collected:

General municipal purposes 8,450,342$             7,953,731$             

Grants in lieu and 1% utility tax 172,097                     167,917                     

Water and sewer parcel tax 2,977,916                2,570,196                

School district 3,124,607               2,999,577               

Regional hospital district 971,645                    891,070                    

Regional district 1,480,883               1,332,669               

BCAA and MFA 81,817                       77,486                       

Library 414,149                    386,677                    

17,673,457$         16,379,323$         

Less transfer to other govenments

Province of BC (school taxes) 3,124,607               2,999,577               

Cowichan Valley Regional Hospital District 971,645                    891,070                    

Cowichan Valley Regional District 1,480,883               1,332,669               

BC Assessment & Municipal Finance Authority 81,817                       77,486                       

Vancouver Island Regional Library 414,149                    386,677                    

6,073,103               5,687,479               

Net taxation for municipal purposes 11,600,354$         10,691,844$         
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Note 23 - Sale of Services 
 

 
 
 
Note 24 – Licences, Permits, Rentals & Penalties 
 
 

 
  

Actuals Actuals

2019 2018

Administration recoveries 75,809$                    48,504$                    

Cemetery services 21,580                       32,250                       

Fire service agreements 88,504                       82,152                       

Public Works recoveries 24,947                       41,481                       

Recreation services 565,681                    582,075                    

Sewer utility fees 1,466,705               1,296,801               

Solid waste fees 664,979                    642,413                    

Water utility fees 1,067,908               1,006,296               

3,976,114$            3,731,971$            

Actuals Actuals

2019 2018

Facility Rentals & Leases 470,925$                 378,360$                 

Fines 3,990                           3,620                           

Licences 89,586                       90,029                       

Penalties and interest 124,404                    148,572                    

Permits, Licences & Fees 329,247                    344,843                    

1,018,152$             965,424$                 
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Note 25 – Grants 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Actuals  Budget Actuals
2019 2019 2018

Operating Grants

Traffic Fines Revenue $ 55,613              $ 45,684                 $ 45,684              

Small Communities 463,119           465,515              465,515           

CVRD Recreation 150,818           135,075              135,075           

Other 34,882              15,164                 29,672              

704,432           661,438              675,946           

Capital Grants

Age Friendly Walkability $ -                        $ -                           $ 9,000                  

Arts & Heritage Hub (Phase I) -                        3,874,500         -                        

Asset Management -                        -                           9,152                  

Derelict Vessels -                        -                           59,880              

Holland Dam Construction -                        9,430,238         -                        

Machine Shop 742,051           1,716,585         35,968              

Golf Course Trail & Net 3,386                  -                           7,846                  

Public Washroom -                        109,500              -                        

Stz'uminus First Nation Cooperation Protocol/C2C -                        -                           610                      

Tree Replacements 4,000                  4,800                     6,100                  

Water Filtration Plant 5,388,626      5,388,626         2,853,538      

6,138,063      20,524,249      2,982,094      

Total Grants $ 6,842,495      $ 21,185,687      $ 3,658,040      
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Note 26 – Reserves & Appropriated Equity 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Balance 

Dec. 31, 2018 

 Interest 

Allocated  Contributions  Funding 

 Balance 

Dec. 31, 2019 

RESERVES

Tax Sale 26,555$              679$                     -$                            -$                            27,234$              

Perpetual Safety Fund 13,214                 338                        -                               -                               13,552                 

Sale Real Property 1,436,956          30,074                 -                               430,935              1,036,094          

Municipal Office Building 355,000              -                               60,000                 -                               415,000              

Amenity Funds 96,989                 2,482                    -                               -                               99,470                 

TOTAL RESERVES 1,928,713$       33,573$              60,000$              430,935$           1,591,351$       

APPROPRIATED EQUITY - OPERATIONS

General Operating Fund

Future Projects 3,195,984          -                               2,479,108          1,350,827          4,324,264          

Equipment 768,357              -                               181,308              80,000                 869,665              

Land & Building 90,719                 -                               127,565              -                               218,284              

Tax Contingency 7,986                    -                               -                               -                               7,986                    

Snow & Ice Removal 50,000                 -                               38,100                 38,100                 50,000                 

Infrastructure Deficit 691,331              -                               216,262              495,703              411,890              

Multi-Materials BC Rebate 380,325              -                               102,200              -                               482,525              

5,184,702          -                               3,144,543          1,964,631          6,364,614          

Water Operating Fund

Future Projects 893,757              -                               2,533,515          893,757              2,533,515          

Capital Expenditures 1,307,858          -                               1,450,513          259,999              2,498,371          

MFA Surplus Refunds 524,076              -                               -                               -                               524,076              

Total Water Operating Fund 2,725,690          -                               3,984,027          1,153,756          5,555,961          

Sewer Operating Fund

Future Projects 638,494              -                               296,771              638,494              296,771              

Capital Expenditures 431,289              -                               583,107              80,000                 934,395              

Total Sewer Operating Fund 1,069,783          -                               879,878              718,494              1,231,166          

TOTAL APPROPRIATED EQUITY 8,980,175$       -$                            8,008,448$       3,836,882$       13,151,741$    

TOTAL RESERVES AND APPROPRIATED EQUITY 10,908,888$    33,573$              8,068,448$       4,267,817$       14,743,092$    
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Note 27 - Segmented Information 

  

The Town is a diversified municipal government institution that provides a wide range of 

services to its citizens such as roads, water, sewer and drainage infrastructure, fire protection, 

police protection (RCMP), cemetery, recreation centre, garbage collection and parkland.  

Distinguishable functional segments have been separately disclosed in the segmented 

information.  The nature of the segments and the activities they encompass are as follows: 

 

General Government Services 

  

The City Manager is the liaison between Council and the Town departments and staff.  The 

Corporate Services Department supports the legislated activities of Council, and provides 

information to citizens with respect to Council/Committee processes, reporting procedures 

and decisions, and Town activities.  Also included in General Government Services is the 

Finance Department, Information Technology, Human Resources, and Waterfront Area Plan 

Implementation. 

 

 

Protective Services 

 

Protection is comprised of fire protection, policing, and bylaw enforcement:  

  

 Bylaw enforcement administers, monitors, and seeks compliance with the bylaws enacted 

by the Mayor and Council to regulate the conduct of affairs in the Town of Ladysmith. 

 

 Fire protection is provided by the fire department, whose volunteer members receive 

compensation for each callout in which they take part. 

 

 Policing is provided under contract with the RCMP operating from a detachment building 

located in and owned by the Town of Ladysmith. 
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Note 27 - Segmented Information (continued) 

 

Transportation, Solid Waste and Cemetery 

 

The Transportation (Public Works) Department is responsible for the infrastructure of the 

Town.  Public works provides and maintains Town’s roads, sidewalks, street lights, signage and 

line markings, storm drainage and hydrants. 

 

Solid Waste (Public Works) is responsible for the garbage collection, kitchen organics and 

recycling programs operating in the Town of Ladysmith.  Solid waste collection is performed by 

a contractor. 

 

Cemetery (Public Works) Department provides cemetery services including the maintenance of 

the cemetery grounds. 

 

Development 

 

The Development Services Department provides short-term and long-term land use planning 

services.  Long-term Planning includes work with the community on reviewing the Town’s 

Official Community Plan, developing new Neighbourhood Plans, the Trail Plan and the review of 

relevant bylaws.  Short term Planning includes the processing of development applications. 

 

The Town of Ladysmith’s Development Services and Public Works Departments work together 

to regulate all construction within the Town.  This is achieved through the use of the Town of 

Ladysmith’s Building and Plumbing Bylaw, the British Columbia Building Code, the British 

Columbia Fire Code and other related bylaws and enactments with the Town of Ladysmith. 

 

Recreation and Culture 

 

The Parks, Recreation and Culture Department contribute to the quality of life and personal 

wellness of the community through the provision of a variety of special events, programs, 

services and facilities.  The Frank Jameson Community Centre is the location where the majority 

of the programs are offered. 

 

Parks 

 

Parks includes and provides maintenance of beach area, trails, golf course, spray-park, ball parks, 

and any other civic grounds. 
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Note 27 - Segmented Information (continued) 
 

Water 

 

 Water includes all of the operating activities related to the treatment and distribution of water 

throughout the Town as well as ensuring clean and safe water to the Town, supplied through 

underground pipes  and reservoirs, 

 

Sewer 

 

 Sewer includes all of the operating activities related to the collection and treatment of waste 

water (sewage) and bio-solids composting throughout the Town as well as maintaining a 

separate system of underground pipes to collect sewer or waste water for proper treatment 

prior to discharging it. 

 

Note 28 – Subsequent Events 

 

(a) On February 18, 2020, the electors approved an additional $6 million dollars in long-term debt 

to increase the Town’s water supply.  This new debt has not been executed. 

 

(b) Subsequent to year-end, there was a global outbreak of COVID-19 (coronavirus), which has 

had a significant impact on municipalities through the restrictions put in place by the 

Canadian, provincial and municipal governments regarding travel, municipal operations and 

isolation/quarantine orders.  At this time, it is unknown the extent of the impact the COVID-

19 outbreak may have on the Town of Ladysmith as this will depend on future developments 

that are highly uncertain and that cannot be predicted with confidence.  These uncertainties 

arise from the inability to predict the ultimate geographic spread of the disease, and the 

duration of the outbreak, including the duration of travel restrictions, office closures and 

disruptions, and quarantine/isolation measures that are currently, or may be put, in place by 

Canada and other countries to fight the virus. 
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 Development

 Services 

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Tax 8,622,439$         8,121,648$      -$                        -$                       -$                        -$                       -$                       -$                     

Sale of services 75,809                  48,504               93,554              84,976             685,985            679,009           -                    -                   

Investment income & MFA Refunds 528,984               263,939             -                      -                     -                    -                   

Licence, Permits, Rentals & Penalties 88,413                  110,919             186,137            210,118           129,362            181,597           259,422          227,508         

Grants 463,119               535,157             55,613              45,684             2,630                 -                     -                    -                   

Donations & contributed property -                         16,000               200                     -                     1,476,165        229,490           -                    -                   

Loss on foreign exchange (15,931)                 (51,120)               -                      -                     -                      -                     -                    -                   

Gain (loss) on disposal (47,138)                 (1,205)                 -                      -                     50,552              -                     -                    -                   

Development fees -                         -                       -                      -                     67,000              -                     -                    -                   

Gas tax fund utilized -                         60,000               -                      -                     870,028            214,157           -                    -                   

Total revenue 9,715,695 9,103,841 335,504 340,778 3,281,723 1,304,253 259,422 227,508

EXPENSES

Contracted Services 507,875                625,463             747,895            1,078,113        682,000            796,183           62,575             66,582            

Service Agreements/Grants In Aid 185,263                166,647             -                            -                           -                            -                           -                          -                         

Insurance 56,798                  75,556                25,302               21,523              -                            5,035                 -                          -                         

Interest 23,824                  5,912                   32,185               24,501              -                            -                           -                          -                         

Materials & Supplies 51,052                  93,460                83,522               87,550              95,310               113,422           7,349                11,539            

Utilities & Telephone 14,451                  20,035                26,797               26,241              153,689            151,099           4,608                5,662               

Wages & Benefits 1,735,904            1,662,778          302,391            299,033           916,015            939,000           475,630           471,407         

Other (33,525)                 (183,413)            44,048               38,361              92,599               55,328              19,332             19,353            

Amortization 238,370                232,555             180,881            167,589           867,385            818,927           4,128                4,128               

Total expenses 2,780,011           2,698,993         1,443,022        1,742,911       2,806,999        2,878,994       573,622          578,671         

Surplus (Deficit) 6,935,683$         6,404,848$       (1,107,518)$     (1,402,133)$    474,724$          (1,574,741)$    (314,199)$       (351,163)$     

REVENUE

 General 

Government 

 Protective

 Services 

 Transportation,

Garbage & Cemetery

Services 
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SCHEDULE I –CONTINUED 

 

 
 

 

  

Total

Actual

Total

Actual

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

-$                            -$                           -$                         -$                      1,219,735$       1,093,742$        1,758,181$         1,476,454$      11,600,354$   10,691,844$   

565,681              582,075             20,057              34,310           1,466,705          1,296,801           1,068,323            1,006,296         3,976,114         3,731,971         

-                         -                        -                      -                   -                         -                          -                           -                        528,984             263,939             

319,430              201,741             -                      -                   20,534                 17,546                  14,854                   15,996                1,018,152         965,424             

921,240              206,676             11,267              16,984           -                          5,388,626            2,853,538         6,842,495         3,658,040         

137,000              35,144                50                        6,000              357,191              32,540                  144,343                29,040                2,114,949         348,214             

-                         -                        -                      -                   -                         -                          -                           -                        (15,931)               (51,120)               

-                         -                        -                      -                   (105,889)             -                          (2,429)                      -                        (104,904)            (1,205)                  

-                         -                        10,000              -                   -                         43,000                  -                           -                        77,000                43,000                

6,085                    123,914             2,902                 -                   14,229                 -                          -                           -                        893,245             398,071             

1,949,436 1,149,550 44,276 57,295 2,972,504 2,483,628 8,371,898 5,381,323 26,930,458 20,048,178

365,151               338,806              182,667            70,461            226,401               241,093                235,867                 133,276              3,010,431          3,349,977          

-                                -                               -                             -                          -                                -                                 -                                  -                               185,263              166,647              

46,852                  39,772                 4,304                  4,180               39,425                  17,297                   11,220                    11,210                 183,901              174,573              

28                            210                        -                             -                          173,823               182,458                143,780                 28,798                 373,639              241,880              

132,637               151,321              120,573            95,350            175,014               170,104                139,235                 117,907              804,693              840,653              

206,542               217,964              7,612                  7,345               153,428               144,441                14,755                    11,086                 581,882              583,872              

1,869,742           1,881,723          459,391            443,250         540,003               559,911                618,386                 462,277              6,917,463          6,719,378          

41,547                  27,927                 83,809               76,555            217,479               212,236                215,089                 206,923              680,377              453,270              

235,038               230,257              235,611            233,732         1,328,429           1,260,213            400,075                 388,631              3,489,917          3,336,032          

2,897,536          2,887,980         1,093,968       930,872        2,854,002          2,787,753           1,778,406            1,360,108         16,227,567      15,866,282      

(948,101)$          (1,738,430)$     (1,049,691)$   (873,578)$     118,502$            (304,124)$           6,593,492$          4,021,215$      10,702,891$   4,181,896$      

 Recreation & Culture

Services 

Water Operations

Services

Sewer Operations

Services

Parks Operations

Services
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TOWN OF LADYSMITH 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 

 

SCHEDULE II 

 

 

 
  

Transportation

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019

COST

Opening Balance 9,911,216$       9,451,806$       8,957,453$       8,617,422$       23,673,513$    21,215,517$    9,117,960$       7,615,385$       27,091,211$    

Add: Additions 581,000              459,410              316,082              340,031              148,941              2,457,996          195,898              1,503,780          2,175,360          

Less: Disposals -                         -                         14,150                 -                         108,246              -                         382,112              1,205                    19,346                 

Less: Write-downs -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         

Closing Balance 10,492,216       9,911,216          9,259,385          8,957,453          23,714,208       23,673,513       8,931,746          9,117,960          29,247,225       

ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION

Opening Balance -                         -                         3,467,017          3,225,903          6,722,614          6,101,426          4,503,637          4,040,969          15,984,274       

Add:  Amortization -                         -                         253,398              241,114              667,338              621,188              513,123              462,668              626,464              

Less: Write-downs -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         

Less:  Disposals -                         -                         11,452                 -                         2,723                    -                         337,681              -                         19,337                 

Closing Balance -                         -                         3,708,963 3,467,017 7,387,229 6,722,614 4,679,079 4,503,637 16,591,401

Net Book Value 10,492,216$    9,911,216$       5,550,422$       5,490,436$       16,326,979$    16,950,899$    4,252,667$       4,614,323$       12,655,824$    

Land Land Improvements Buildings Vehicle Furniture & Equipment
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TOWN OF LADYSMITH 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 

 

SCHEDULE II (CONTINUED) 

 

 

 
 

Linear Infrastructure  

 

Transportation

2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

26,843,386$    35,946,824$    35,914,284$     8,708,158$        8,607,481$        16,937,080$     16,713,617$     4,786,319$        2,997,471$        145,129,734$    137,976,369$    

247,825                347,413                32,540                    554,482                100,677                909,647                 223,463                 11,735,065        4,017,206           16,963,887           9,382,928               

-                              1,933                       -                              444                            -                              11,360                     -                              404,868                2,228,358           942,459                    2,229,563               

-                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                               -                              -                              -                              -                                 -                                 

27,091,211        36,292,304        35,946,824        9,262,196           8,708,158           17,835,367         16,937,080        16,116,516        4,786,319           161,151,162        145,129,734        

15,385,190        8,811,591           7,822,993            2,430,628           2,312,727           5,517,832            5,212,353            -                              -                              47,437,593           44,101,561           

599,084                991,814                988,598                 123,385                117,901                314,395                 305,479                 -                              -                              3,489,917               3,336,032               

-                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                               -                              -                              -                              -                                 -                                 

-                              1,567                       -                              444.00                    -                              8,931                        -                              -                              -                              382,135                    -                                 

15,984,274 9,801,838 8,811,591 2,553,569 2,430,628 5,823,296 5,517,832 -                              -                              50,545,375 47,437,593

11,106,937$    26,490,466$    27,135,233$     6,708,627$        6,277,530$        12,012,071$     11,419,248$     16,116,516$    4,786,319$        110,605,787$    97,692,141$        

Sanitary Sewer Storm Water Assets Under Construction Total
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TOWN OF LADYSMITH 
 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 
 

SCHEDULE OF DEBTS 

 
 
 
 

Information on all long-term debts for this organization is included in Notes 12, 13, and 14 to the financial 
statements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared under the Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, subsection 6(7) 
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TOWN OF LADYSMITH 
 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 
 

SCHEDULE OF GUARANTEE AND INDEMNITY AGREEMENTS 

 
 
 
 

The Town of Ladysmith has not given any guarantees or indemnities under the Guarantees and 
Indemnities Regulation. 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Prepared under the Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, subsection 6(7) 
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TOWN OF LADYSMITH 
 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 
 

SCHEDULE OF RENUMERATION AND EXPENSES 
 

 

Elected Officials, as per Sec. 168 of the Community Charter   
As per Section 2 - Financial Information Act and Financial Information Regulation 371/93: 
 

 
 
 

Employees 
As per Section 2 - Financial Information Act and Financial Information Regulation 371/93: 
 

 

NAME POSITION EXPENSES

Stone, Aaron Mayor $5,326
Jacobson, Amanda Councillor 5,114
Johnson, Robert Councillor 3,036
McKay, Patricia Councillor 5,334
Paterson, Donald Councillor 3,278
Stevens, Andrew Councillor 6,310
Virtanen, Jeffrey Councillor 790

Total Elected Officials $29,187

14,940

$123,960

$34,320
14,940
14,940
14,940
14,940
14,940

REMUNERATION

NAME POSITION EXPENSES

Adams, Felicity Director of Development Services $2,065
Anderson, Erin Director of Financial Services 2,513
Baker, Curtis Utilities III/Chief Operator 948
Barney, Martin Certified Utilities Operator I 1,457
Bollinger, Colin Senior Building Inspector 2,637
Bouma, Ryan Sr Engineer Tech/Approving Officer 4,044
Brown, Michael Certified Utilities Operator III 1,245
Ferrero, Guillermo Chief Administrative Officer 7,878
Fukakusa, Gerald Manager of Accounting Services 2,297
Ganderton, Mike Streets Supervisor -              
Goldfuss, Kevin Manager of Operations 24
Goodall, Geoff Director of Infrastructure Services 1,543
Grueber, Gregory Certified Utility Operator III 1,118
Jack, Isaac Certified Utility Operator II (Backhoe) 77
Lassam, Shane Equipment and Compost Operator IV 239
Manuel, Leonard Facilities Maintenance Supervisor -              
McLeod, Robert Certified Utility Operator II 70
McNeill, Andrew Certified Utility Op IV-Chief Operator 169
Paydli, Ian Manager of Human Resources 3,699
Postings, Clayton Director of Parks, Recreation & Culture 1,571
Smith, Donna Executive Liasion 302
Vaux, Ronald Certified Mechanic 1,939
Winter, Joanna Manager of Legislative Services 505
Winter, Wolf Certified Wastewater Trmt Utility Op II 2,773

$39,111

93,963

$133,074

Total:  Employees with renumeration greater than $75,000 $2,385,473

Add:  Employees with renumeration less than $75,000 3,154,198

Total:  All employees 

86,641

78,165

$5,539,671

78,315

79,507
84,432

104,356

75,268

135,504

141,348

158,253

91,634

94,076

109,059

80,267

80,248

106,453

REMUNERATION

106,410

77,503

109,029

115,608

$83,723
133,485

85,192
90,997
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TOWN OF LADYSMITH 
 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 
 

SCHEDULE OF SEVERANCE AGREEMENTS 

 
 
 
 

There were no severance agreements made between the Town of Ladysmith and its non-unionized 
employees during fiscal year 2019. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared under the Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, subsection 6(7) 
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TOWN OF LADYSMITH 
 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 
 

SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS FOR GOODS AND SERVICES 
 

 

 

Payee Total Payments
1089765 BC LTD NORTH LADYSMITH JOINT VENTURE 44,430$                             
ACME SUPPLIES 30,071                               
ALL OUT FENCING INC 44,342                               
ARTS COUNCIL OF LADYSMITH & DISTRICT 26,414                               
ASSOCIATED ENGINEERING (BC) LTD 909,898                             
BC ASSESSMENT AUTHORITY 81,299                               
BC HYDRO 470,932                             
BLACK PRESS GROUP LTD 35,679                               
CLEARTECH INDUSTRIES INC 132,939                             
COAST ENVIRONMENTAL LTD 25,203                               
COASTAL ANIMAL CONTROL SERVICES OF BC LTD. 38,297                               
COLUMBIA FUELS A DIV OF PARKLAND FUEL CORP 107,391                             
COMMUNICATION CONNECTION BC INC (THE) 32,936                               
CORNERSTONE TILE 27,689                               
COWICHAN VALLEY REGIONAL DISTRICT 2,445,568                          
COWICHAN VALLEY REGIONAL HOSPITAL DISTRICT 970,540                             
DAVID STALKER EXCAVATING LTD 1,038,692                          
DISTRICT OF NORTH COWICHAN 91,048                               
DYNAMIC HYDRAULICS INC 37,022                               
FINNING (CANADA) 33,451                               
FMI DEVELOPMENTS LTD 158,628                             
GOODMAN PLUMBING LTD 25,615                               
HEROLD ENGINEERING LTD 187,143                             
HOLLAND CREEK LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 0963984 BC 164,238                             
HOTSON ARCHITECTURE INC 278,737                             
HUB CITY PAVING LTD 63,651                               
ICBC 59,805                               
IVORY TOWER INVESTMENTS LTD 29,385                               
IWC EXCAVATION LTD 31,679                               
KOERS & ASSOCIATES ENGINEERING LTD 307,705                             
KTI LIMITED 58,235                               
LAFARGE ASPHALT TEHCNOLOGIES A DIV OF 42,512                               
LAWSON LANDS LTD 41,300                               
LIDSTONE & CO IN TRUST 292,000                             
LIDSTONE & COMPANY 42,308                               
MEDICAL SERVICES PLAN 45,900                               
METRO MOTORS LTD 131,419                             
MID-ISLAND FENCE PRODUCTS LTD 57,731                               
MILESTONE EQUIPMENT CONTRACTING INC 665,441                             
MINISTER OF FINANCE 122,911                             
MINISTRY OF SMALL BUSINESS AND REVENUE 351,189                             
MUNICIPAL FINANCE AUTHORITY 116,666                             
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TOWN OF LADYSMITH 
 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 
 

SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS FOR GOODS AND SERVICES 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Prepared under the Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, subsection 6(7) 
 

MUNICIPAL INSURANCE ASSOCIATION OF BC 194,498$                           
MUNICIPAL PENSION FUND 483,383                             
NAC CONSTRUCTORS LTD 9,890,979                          
NALCO WATER 27,488                               
PACIFIC BLUE CROSS 221,924                             
PROFAB MANUFACTURING LTD 31,935                               
RECEIVER GENERAL (Payroll only) 630,962                             
RECEIVER GENERAL FOR CANADA 731,440                             
RT INDUSTRIES 27,029                               
RUSHWORTH ELECTRICAL SERVICES INC 57,042                               
SOFTCHOICE CORP 60,411                               
STEWART MCDANNOLD STUART 115,917                             
SUMMIT MECHANICAL SYSTEMS LTD 52,105                               
TELUS MOBILITY 29,424                               
TETRA TECH CANADA INC 25,785                               
TURNER LAND SURVEYING INC 44,538                               
US BANK 216,470                             
VADIM COMPUTER MANAGEMENT GROUP LTD 28,683                               
VANCOUVER ISLAND REGIONAL LIBRARY 414,052                             
VANCOUVER ISLAND TREE SERVICE LTD 115,069                             
VEER HOLDINGS INC 37,255                               
WASTE CONNECTIONS OF CANADA INC 524,999                             
WATERHOUSE ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES CORPORATION 42,074                               
WHOLESALE FIRE & RESCUE LTD 31,172                               
WINDLEY CONTRACTING LTD 459,022                             
WORKSAFE BC 132,041                             
WORLD WATER WORKS INC 42,153                               
WSP CANADA GROUP LTD 118,594                             

24,684,478                        
Grants and contributions over $25,000:
LADYSMITH & DISTRICT HISTORICAL SOCIETY 49,550                               
LADYSMITH CHAMBER OF COMMERCE 45,612                               
LADYSMITH RESOURCES CENTRE ASSOCIATION 42,392                               

Total payments over $25,000 24,822,031                        
Payments under $25,000 1,942,328                          
Grants under $25,000 56,850                               

Total payments made 26,821,209$                       
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TOWN OF LADYSMITH 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION APPROVAL 

The undersigned, as authorized by the Financial Information Regulation, Section 1, subsection 9(2), 
approves all the statements and schedules included in this Statement of Financial Information, produced 
under the Financial Information Act. 

___________________________________  

Erin Anderson  
Director of Financial Services 
August 18, 2020

___________________________________ 

Aaron Stone
Mayor 
August 18, 2020

Prepared under the Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, section 9.
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 TOWN OF LADYSMITH 

 

 BYLAW NO.  2043 

 

A bylaw to defer the 2020 annual tax sale until September 27, 2021 

 

 

 

WHEREAS the British Columbia government has declared a provincial state of emergency to 

support the province wide response to the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic; 

 

AND WHEREAS Ministerial Order No. M159/2020 under the Emergency Program Act permits 

a municipal council to adopt a bylaw to defer the annual tax sale for 2020 until September 27, 

2021; 

 

NOW THEREFORE the Municipal Council of the Town of Ladysmith in open meeting assembled 

enacts as follows: 

 

2020 Tax Sale Deferment 

 

1. The Town of Ladysmith’s annual Tax Sale, as prescribed in the Community Charter, for 2020 

is hereby deferred until Monday, September 27, 2021. 

 

Citation 

 

2. This bylaw may be cited as "Town of Ladysmith Tax Sale Deferment Bylaw, 2020, 

No. 2043". 

 

 

 

READ A FIRST TIME  on the 4th  day of August , 2020 

    

READ A SECOND TIME  on the 4th  day of August , 2020 

    

READ A THIRD TIME  on the 4th  day of August , 2020 

    

ADOPTED  on the   day of , 2020 

 

 

 

      _________________________________________ 

                 Mayor (A. Stone) 

 

 

      _________________________________________ 

         Corporate Officer (D. Smith)  
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